Area Planning Committee (Central and East)

Date
Time
Venue

Tuesday 8 December 2020
9.30 am
Remote Meeting - being held via Microsoft Teams

Business
Part A
Items which are open to the Public and Press

1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Substitute Members

3.

Minutes of the meeting held on 10 November 2020 (Pages 3 - 44)

4.

Declarations of Interest, if any

5.

Applications to be determined by the Area Planning Committee
(Central and East)
a) DM/20/01685/VOC - Glenmoor Farm, High Street, Low

Pittington, Durham, DH6 1BE (Pages 45 - 64)
Variation of condition 2 of planning approval
DM/16/03207/FPA to allow a change of materials from
render to stone with glazed section above entrance doors,
increase of roof line by 300mm and change in land levels.
b) DM/20/01961/FPA - William Robson House, Claypath,

Durham, DH1 1SA (Pages 65 - 88)
Extension and conversion of the multi-level decked car park
to form 3no. 2-bed apartments and 4no. 2-bed townhouses.
6.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
30 November 2020

To:

The Members of the Area Planning Committee (Central and
East)
Councillor J Clark (Chair)
Councillor A Laing (Vice-Chair)
Councillors D Brown, I Cochrane, K Corrigan, B Coult,
M Davinson, D Freeman, A Gardner, K Hawley, S Iveson,
R Manchester, J Robinson, J Shuttleworth and P Taylor

Contact: Martin Tindle

Tel: 03000 269 713

Agenda Item 3

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE (CENTRAL AND EAST)

At a Meeting of Area Planning Committee (Central and East) held remotely via
Microsoft Teams on Tuesday 10 November 2020 at 9.30 am

Present:
Councillor J Clark (Chair)
Members of the Committee:
Councillors D Brown, K Corrigan, B Coult, M Davinson, D Freeman, A Laing (ViceChair), R Manchester, L Marshall (substitute for S Iveson), J Robinson,
J Shuttleworth and P Taylor
Also Present:
Councillors J Blakey, L Brown, S Dunn, D Hall and M McKeon
1

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors I Cochrane and
K Hawley and S Iveson.

2

Substitute Members
Councillor L Marshall substituted for Councillor S Iverson.

3

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 13 October 2020 were confirmed as a
correct record by the Committee and would be signed by the Chair.

4

Declarations of Interest
Councillor D Freeman noted in respect of Item 5b - DM/20/01124/FPA - Land
to South of Flass Vale House, he a Member of the City of Durham Parish
Council, however, he was not a member of their Planning Committee and
had not been party to their submission in objection to the application.

Page 3

5

Applications to be determined by the Area Planning Committee
(Central and East)
a

DM/20/02163/FPA - Tiana Lane, Pittington Road, Rainton
Gate, Houghton-le-Spring, DH5 9RG

The Principal Planning Officer, Alan Dobie, gave a detailed presentation on
the report relating to the abovementioned planning application, a copy of
which had been circulated (for copy see file of minutes). Members noted that
the written report was supplemented by a visual presentation which included
photographs of the site. The application was for the erection of a single
storey dwelling and was recommended for refusal.
The Principal Planning Officer referred Members to the application site on
both site plans and aerial photographs showing a square plot with a narrow
access past the adjacent property, The Rowans. He noted the context of the
site within the local area, with a handful of detached properties all with large
grounds. He referred to the nearby A690 and the busy junction between it
and Pittington Road. The Committee noted photographs of the site showing
the site and narrow access, which had recently been tarmacked and with
fencing along the boundary with The Rowans. Members noted the mobile
home on site, currently occupied, which did not yet have planning
permission, subject to an ongoing investigation by Planning Enforcement.
The Principal Planning Officer noted that enforcement action was not
relevant in terms of the application before the Committee.
The Committee noted the proposed site plan with a rectangular bungalow,
parking, turning area and garden to the rear. Members noted the elevations,
with the Principal Planning Officer adding the proposed bungalow was of a
relatively low level and well screened from the main road.
The Principal Planning Officer referred Members to a slide highlighting the
extent of the Green Belt designation, noting it predated the City of Durham
Local Plan, and effectively cut off at Pittington Road, with properties on one
side of the road being within the Green Belt, on the other side being outside
of the Green Belt.
In terms of responses, the Principal Planning Officer noted no objections
from Northumbrian Water, subject to some advice on surface water drainage,
and no objections from the Council’s Highways Section, the access and bin
storage arrangements being considered acceptable. He added that the
Spatial Policy Team noted that, in terms of the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) a dwelling would impact on the openness of the Green
Belt and would be inappropriate development and would be, by definition,
harmful to the Green Belt. He noted that they added that such development
should not be approved except in very special circumstances.
Page 4

The Principal Planning Officer explained that the Landscape Team had
responded noting that the proposal would be sited within the countryside
outside any defined settlement boundary and a dwelling on the site would
encroach on the countryside and further erode the rural character and
openness of the greenbelt in that location.
The Committee were asked to note the response from the Design and
Conservation Team which stated that they felt the information submitted did
not justify a new dwelling in the location and the design was such that would
result in a new dwelling of simple design with little architectural merit.
Members noted the Contaminated Land Team would require a condition
requiring a land contamination scheme, due to the previous uses of the site,
and the Noise Action Team raised no objections and provided advice
regarding achieving acceptable noise levels in the dwelling, in terms of
nearby traffic noise. It was noted there were no objections from the Air
Quality, Drainage and Ecology Sections and that Tree Officers offered no
objection, confirming the tree report supplied was satisfactory and complied
with current standards. It was noted that one tree would be removed with all
other trees to have been found to be in good health and would be retained.
In respect of representations, the Principal Planning Officer noted at the time
of publication of the report no letters of support or objection had been
received. He added that subsequent to the publication of the report a Local
Member, Councillor B Kellett had been in contact to note that he supported
the Officer recommendation due to the concerns expressed within the report
as regards the Green Belt.
The Principal Planning Officer noted there had been four letters of support,
received via Local Member, Councillor D Hall on behalf of the applicant, from
the local school, the health visiting service and traveller organisations. He
noted the main points of support related to: the family currently living in
caravan; the family were settled in the area and wanted to remain part of the
community; their children were established in the local school; and that
mental health and wellbeing were important, especially in current times.
The Principal Planning Officer referred to the planning considerations, noting
they were set out in detail within the report. He noted the new County
Durham Plan (CDP) was now in force, adopted in October 2020, and was the
statutory development plan for consideration of planning applications. He
noted the site was a greenfield site within the Durham City Green Belt and
the site was behind an existing property which was constructed prior to
Green Belt boundaries being established. He added that the proposal would
be contrary to CDP Policy 10, Development in the Countryside, and NPPF
Section 13, Protecting Green Belt land).

Page 5

He noted Officers felt that the application had not demonstrated any very
special circumstances to comply with exceptions afforded by Policy 10 or
NPPF Paragraph 145.
The Principal Planning Officer noted in terms of the impact upon the
openness of the countryside and the Green Belt, that Policy 20 stated that
proposals would be determined in accordance with the NPPF and that NPPF
Paragraph 143 stated that inappropriate development was, by definition,
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special
circumstances. He added that the construction of a new dwelling as
proposed was considered to be inappropriate development as it did not
qualify under any of the exemptions, for uses such as agricultural and leisure
developments. Members noted Officers did not view the site as being
previously developed, the previous coal and rail related uses, as shown on
historic mapping, had long since ceased and the site was therefore
considered as a greenfield site. The Principal Planning Officer noted no
special circumstances had been identified within the application and
reiterated that the proposal was contrary to Policy 20 of the CDP and NPPF
Section 13.
The Principal Planning Officer noted impact on the character and
appearance of the area, being located within the countryside and beyond the
residential framework of the locality and as it was proposed to be behind an
existing property, it did not relate well to the established built form and would
be an incongruent addition to the existing landscape.
Members noted that in terms of residential amenity, it was considered
unlikely that the proposals would result in impact to the current levels
enjoyed by neighboured properties.
In terms of sustainability, the Principal Planning Officer noted the site was not
located within a settlement and was, by definition, in the countryside. He
added that occupiers of the proposed dwelling would need to rely heavily on
the use of a private car for their day-to-day needs and the proposal would be
contrary to Policy 21, Delivering Sustainable Transport, which sought to
minimise the need for the use of a private car as the only or main source of
transport. It was noted Low Pittington was the nearest settlement, located
approximately 1.5 km away, with an unlit road with a footpath. He added that
West Rainton was located on the far side of the A690, which would require a
difficult manoeuvre across two carriageways to get to, and it was not felt as
being a safe route on foot, particularly taking children to school.
The Principal Planning Officer reiterated there were no issues in terms of
highway safety, parking or ecology.

Page 6

The Principal Planning Officer reiterated the recommendation for refusal
based upon the points set out within the report and summarised within his
presentation. He added that while there was a modest boost to housing
supply and a temporary contribution to the local economy through the
provision of jobs during the construction phase of development, the Council
was able to demonstrate a housing land supply in excess of five years. He
noted the application referred to personal circumstances, however, it was felt
these were insufficient to outweigh the harm due to the inappropriateness of
development within the Green Belt and reiterated that the application and
supporting information failed to demonstrate very special circumstances as
required by Policy 20 and Paragraph 145 of the NPPF and therefore the
proposal was felt by Officers to be unacceptable.
The Chair thanked the Principal Planning Officer and asked Local Member,
Councillor D Hall to speak in support of the application.
Councillor D Hall noted he was a Local County Councillor for the Sherburn
Division and respectfully requested Members of the Committee grant the
application for a modest, one storey family home. He noted he had e-mailed
a statement to Committee Members and therefore he would keep his
address concise to avoid repetition. He explained he wish to address the
main issue was that of the Green Belt designation, noting it was applied to
large swathes of land of different types and uses including, in this instance,
streets of residential houses and small plots of land behind them. He
explained that if it were not for the Green Belt designation, the application
would have probably been granted without much delay and noted he felt the
designation created a fog of semantic planning arguments which lost sight of
the truth that the application referred to a relatively small, discrete, enclosed
plot of land, adjacent to existing houses and a business, none of whom
objected to the application, with no impact on the adjacent areas and was a
sensible place for the proposed new home. Councillor D Hall noted he felt
that through its Green Belt designation the report had considered by default
that the development was in the open countryside. He noted this was not the
case, noting it did not incur into the countryside and was already naturally
enclosed and screened so that one would be hard pressed to spot the
location now or once built out, as confirmed by the Committee report. He
added that it was an underused plot of land sitting redundantly alongside
larger properties built before the Green Belt designation.
Councillor D Hall noted there were no objections to the application, only
letters of support and added it was sustainable development as it was within
walking distance of the local primary school, pub, shops and was a one
minute walk from several local and into town bus routes, not least on the
A690. He noted the A690 would have traffic lights and a pedestrian crossing
installed next year for easier access to West Rainton.

Page 7

He noted the crossroads at Low Pittington and added there was an excellent
farm shop selling a fantastic range of goods just next door to the application
site.
Councillor D Hall noted the family were currently living with extended family
in crowded circumstances and were trying hard to resolve the issue. He
added that they were an embedded part of the local community through their
family upbringing, profession, support network, with their children doing well
at the local primary school and also through their involvement and
volunteering in the community. He explained that recently had involved
raising thousands of pounds for local COVID-19 and community projects.
Councillor D Hall noted Mr Thomas Ward was a hardworking local who had
made himself a very successful professional boxer and used his experience
and skill to mentor young people within the village through the local youth
project, with special focus on children and young people that may be harder
to reach. He noted that the young family simply wished to have a home in
their local village, on their own plot of land for their family’s needs. Councillor
D Hall noted the application was a sensible development, a good use of
underused land, formerly industrial but long since turned green, and now
perfect for a new home. He noted there were no objections and he felt no
real or physical harm to give weight to and added that thankfully there were
Planning Committees with the democratically given powers to fairly weigh
matters and make a decision in the best interests of all concerned, including
the applicant and the community both of which he respectfully argued were
best served by the granting of the application. He noted that Planning
Officers had confirmed to him that it was open to Committee Members to
weigh the circumstances for themselves and it was perfectly within the
Committee’s power to grant the application should they wish to, with no
precedent set for future similar applications.
Councillor D Hall noted in summary that the proposed one storey
development did not breach or harm the principle of the Green Belt and
served the important service of providing a much needed family home
through a respectful use of available screened and underused space next to
existing houses. He noted that he respectfully requested that the Committee
grant the application for a family home with any conditions that Planning
Officers would require.
The Chair thanked Councillor D Hall and asked Ms Chantelle Morrison, the
applicant, to speak in support of her application.
Ms C Morrison thanked the Chair and introduced herself and Mr Thomas
Ward, applicants in respect of the proposed development and noted they
wished to build themselves a family home as they had lived in the area for all
of their lives, both having grown up on the nearby Traveller site at Adventure
Lane, which had been welcomed by the community of West Rainton.

Page 8

Ms C Morrison explained that there was no availability on the Traveller site
for them and they were not a priority in terms of Council builds. She added
that as Mr T Ward was self-employed they were unable to obtain a mortgage
for a house that they would need and noted as part of the Traveller
community they faced a lot of discrimination adding that if they were required
to travel that would have a big impact upon their mental health. She
explained their children attended the school at West Rainton and noted they
were thriving in terms of their education.
Ms C Morrison noted that should they obtain a smaller house elsewhere,
they would still require planning permission for an extension adding it would
be more cost effective to build on the land they had owned for many years.
She explained they currently lived in a caravan owned by Mr T Ward’s
parents and noted that with 10 adults and 13 children it was very cramped
with animosity developing due to the overcrowding. She noted it was
important that family did not fall out over the issue and she wished to
maintain the strong family bonds and noted they relied upon family for
support. She reiterated if they were to revert to their Traveller roots it would
have a big impact upon the mental health of her and her family, with her
children having to leave their school for months on end, adding that the
family had good relationships with their Doctor, Health Visitors and the local
school which would be hard to rebuild if not settled in the same location.
Ms C Morrison explained that Mr T Ward was a very well respected figure in
the local community and a great role model, supporting all local events and
fundraising activities, volunteering a lot of his time to help others in the
community. She added that they had the full support of their neighbours and
explained that the proposed property would fit in with the surroundings. She
noted that they would not be proposing to remove any of the trees on their
land and would only developing less than half of the area for the property
itself. She thanked the Committee for listening and noted she, and Mr T
Ward would be happy to answer any questions from Members.
The Chair thanked Ms C Morrison and asked the Principal Planning Officer to
respond to the points raised by the speakers.
The Principal Planning Officer noted in respect of the Green Belt issues
raised by Councillor D Hall that those issues were the fundamental concern
in respect of the application. He added that unless the Local Planning
Authority agreed very special circumstances there was no subjectivity in
terms of the application.

Page 9

He noted the NPPF was quite clear in stating that: “inappropriate
development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt and should not be
approved except in very special circumstances”, he added that exceptions
included: buildings for agricultural forestry; facilities for outdoor sport or
recreation that was clearly in place; cemeteries; alterations to an existing
building or replacement of an existing building; and limited in-fill within
villages. He noted that therefore there was not an exception that could apply
in terms of the application being considered.
He added that Members had heard from the family in terms of their
background and the impressive work of their family, and while there was
sympathy for the situation they found themselves in, the reasons were not
sufficient in planning terms to be considered very special circumstances to
override the Green Belt.
The Principal Planning Officer noted Councillor D Hall had stated that the
application would likely have been granted had it not been within the green
Belt, he explained that he would not agree with that and referred Members to
statements within the report as regards the Officers view that the site was in
an unsustainable location relative to shopping and other facilities. He noted
there was a farm shop nearby, however, that would not be able to provide a
full range of shopping and any occupiers would need to make supermarket
trips. He reiterated that it was considered that attempting to cross the A690
on foot would be extremely dangerous and therefore it was far more likely
that a private car would be used for trips to the school and for shopping.
The Principal Planning Officer noted that Officers felt that approval of the
application would undermine Green Belt principles and did not feel that there
were very special circumstances to warrant approval and therefore the
recommendation remained the same.
The Chair thanked the Principal Planning Officer and the Committee for their
comments and questions.
Councillor J Shuttleworth noted he could get quite irate when reference was
made to locations being unsustainable, he explained he felt a location 50
miles from anywhere was unsustainable and that a plot a few miles from
facilities was sustainable. He added that he felt the special circumstances in
terms of the application would be that it was allowing a local family to stay in
their local area, allowing their children to attend their local school and he felt
the Committee should support the application and moved that it be approved,
adding there had been no objections from residents to the application.

Page 10

Councillor P Taylor noted he found it difficult in terms of not judging with
emotion an application by a young family to build a home. He noted from the
presentation that there was a roadway constructed to access the site, the
area had been cleared and asked why the application had gotten so far
through the planning process, and whether there had been pre-application
advice in terms of the principle of development on the site as, in accordance
with policy, it was unlikely any such application would have been granted in
the Green Belt. He added that it was also important to take into account the
personal circumstances of the young family, and he added he disagreed with
Planning Officers as he considered the site to be a sustainable location.
Councillor P Taylor noted he was torn as regards the application and noted
he was always very mindful as regards planning rules and policies and was
always strict in their application at Committee. He added the application was
for a site within the Green Belt and reiterated he was torn as regards the
application and wondered if the family had been given false hope in relation
to the proposal.
The Principal Planning Officer confirmed that the applicants had asked for
and received pre-application advice and were given firm advice that the
proposal would not be acceptable, and the site was an inappropriate site for
development, the applicants however proceeded with their application.
Councillor A Laing moved the application be refused in line with the Officer’s
recommendation. Councillor L Marshall seconded refusal.
Councillor D Brown seconded Councillor J Shuttleworth.
The Chair noted no further comments or questions from the Committee and
asked the Solicitor – Planning and Development, Neil Carter to explain as
regards the votes to be taken and for reasons in terms of the motion for
approval.
The Solicitor – Planning and Development noted the key policy test was that
of the Green Belt and that development was inappropriate by definition and
therefore was harm arising from that development. He added that therefore
if Members were to approve the development, they would need to be of the
view that the circumstances were such that they clearly outweighed the harm
by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm that had been identified,
with Members having been informed of additional harm in respect of
sustainability, though Members may agree or disagree with that aspect. He
added that Officers had also identified additional harm in terms of the impact
on the open countryside, the visual impact on the character and appearance
of the location. The Solicitor – Planning and Development noted Officers had
set out their view, that being they felt the personal circumstances, while
amounting to material planning considerations, would not be sufficient.

Page 11

He reiterated that if Members were to approve the application, they would
have to be of the view that those circumstances were sufficient to outweigh
that harm. He asked if Councillor J Shuttleworth could indicate what material
planning consideration he felt outweighed the harm and, if approved, there
would need to be a standard suite of conditions attached to such an
approval.
Councillor P Taylor noted that Councillor J Shuttleworth would be able to
take the contrary view to Officers in order to justify his motion for approval of
the application.
Councillor J Shuttleworth noted that in approving the application it would
allow local people to live in their local area, adding it was often reported in
the press that local people in the countryside not being able to have a home
or buy a home due to the cost. He noted that the proposal would help the
family to stay in their local area, with their three children helping to support
the local school. He added that the shops were not so far away in terms of
sustainability and therefore he felt the application should be allowed. He
noted he felt there were exceptional circumstances and he noted the
contribution of Mr T Ward in the local community in terms of providing boxing
training for young people.
Councillor D Brown noted in terms of the Green Belt and the application
being an intrusion into the countryside, he noted the land was not agricultural
land and he felt that it was a useless little corner that was crying out for
development, would not intrude on anyone’s privacy and had received no
objections from local residents. He concluded by noting he felt the plot would
benefit from having a house build on it and that approval was common
sense.
The Solicitor – Planning and Development summarised that Members
proposing the approval were noting they felt the applicants’ personal
circumstances, together with the sustainability credentials of the site and
assistance with the sustainability of the school in terms of pupil numbers,
were sufficient to clearly outweigh the Green Belt harm that had been
identified. He noted that, should the application be approved, delegated
authority would be required for Planning Officers to agree a suite of
conditions in conjunction with the Chair and Vice-chair, and he asked if the
Principal Planning Officer could give further information in terms of
conditions.
The Principal Planning Officer explained that there would be requirements in
terms of a contaminated land assessment as outlined within consultation
responses within the report, as well as suitable conditions associated with
materials, landscaping amongst others, again to be endorsed by the Chair
and Vice-Chair as required.

Page 12

The Solicitor – Planning and Development noted the vote was for the
approval of the application, subject to a suite of conditions to be agreed by
the Planning Officer in consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair.
Upon a vote being taken the motion was LOST.
The Chair noted the result and asked the Solicitor – Planning and
Development to take the vote in respect of the motion for refusal of the
application.
Upon a vote being taken it was:
RESOLVED
That the application be REFUSED for the reasons as set out within the
report.

b

DM/20/01124/FPA - Land to South of Flass Vale House,
Ainsley Street, Durham, DH1 4BJ

The Planning Officer, Lisa Morina, gave a detailed presentation on the report
relating to the abovementioned planning application, a copy of which had
been circulated (for copy see file of minutes). Members noted that the
written report was supplemented by a visual presentation which included
photographs of the site. The application was for the retention of use of land
for 2 car parking spaces and was recommended for approval.
The Planning Officer referred the Committee to a plan and aerial photograph
of the application site and noted the status of the land was unclear, however,
there was an established historic route in the area. She explained the
parking spaces were in connection to a previous scheme carried out for
residential development at the Former Companions club.
Members were asked to note photographs of the land prior to development
and subsequent to completion and were informed of the gravel surface
construction and low-level wooden fencing with chain link along the front of
the site.
In respect of consultee responses, the Planning Officer advised there were
no objections from the Highways Section, Northumbrian Water and the
Design and Conservation Section noted the proposal would have a neutral
impact. It was noted the Public Rights of Way Team objected to the
proposal.

Page 13

She explained that 13 letters of objection had been received to the
application, including from the City of Durham Parish Council and a Local
Member for the area.
The Planning Officer noted that the application was considered to have a
neutral impact in terms of the visual impact on the conservation area and
surrounding listed buildings. She noted that no neighbouring properties were
impacted in terms of residential amenity. In respect of Highways and Public
Rights of Way issues, while there were the issues as regards the status of
the land and impact on the historic route those were outside of the
consideration of the application through the planning system and the
application was able to be determined in respect of the application. She
added that other issues set out in the report included information regarding
ownership and possession of the land.
The Planning Officer noted that the impact upon visual amenity of the area,
including the conservation area and heritage assets, as well as the impact on
residential amenity was considered to be acceptable. She explained the
application was considered to meet the requirements of the NPPF, the CDP
policies as well as satisfying the requirements of Sections 66 and 72 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. She
concluded by noting the objections and concerns raised had been taken into
account and addressed within the report and it was felt, on balance, that the
concerns raised were not to be of sufficient weight to justify refusal of the
application.
For clarity the Planning Officer noted that in respect of the public right of way
issues, whilst there were potential issues, they were not planning related and
could be considered under separate legislation
The Chair thanked the Planning Officer and asked Parish Councillor R
Cornwell to speak on behalf of the City of Durham Parish Council in objection
to the application.
Parish Councillor R Cornwell thanked the Chair and Committee and
explained the Parish Council had two arguments in relation to the application,
either of which should lead the Committee to refuse this application.
He noted that the Parish Council was at a disadvantage however, because it
was only with the publication of the Committee report that they learned of the
legal opinion obtained by the applicant and forwarded to the Planning Officer.
He added, this was not on the public record and the Parish Council would
like to read and assess this, which would require an adjournment, which the
Parish Council would ask for unless, as we hope, the other arguments lead
the Committee to refuse this application.

Page 14

Parish Councillor R Cornwell explained the first ground on which Committee
should refuse the application was the impact on historic assets. He noted
the lane itself was a historic route and was shown on Thomas Forster’s map
of 1754, with others noting it was an ancient pilgrim route. He added that
while the parking bays were at a relatively low level, the intention was, of
course, that they would be used. He noted Members would have to consider
the impact with two cars parked there, the officer’s report (paragraph 49)
overlooking that point.
It was noted that within the lane was Flass Well, not Fram Well as stated in
paragraph 51 of the report, and it was clear from multiple objectors that plans
were well-advanced to clear the vegetation to give better access. Parish
Councillor R Cornwell noted the parking bays would obstruct that access and
the clearing will also improve the views of Redhills Miners’ Hall. He added
that the report described that as not intentional, but it was still valued and the
Durham Mineworkers Association, in their heritage statement on another
planning application, commended it. Parish Councillor R Cornwell noted that
consequently the Parish Council did not agree with the conclusion that the
impact was nil or neutral. He added that there were policies that the
Committee should use to refuse the application: Policy 44 of the CDP as
summarised in paragraph 18 of the Committee report.
He explained that the City of Durham Neighbourhood Plan was now in its
final form with no outstanding objections or changes required. He added that
the version that will be put the referendum was with the County Council and
explained that under the Coronavirus Regulations it now had very
considerable weight. He noted Policy H2 was relevant here and as the
parking bays in use would not sustain and enhance the conservation area,
Policy H4 was also relevant. He added there was no understanding of the
significance of Redhills nor of the Flass Well.
Parish Councillor R Cornwell referred to highways issues and noted that
when the Rights of Way team stated that the status was unclear, they meant
they were unsure whether it was a footpath, a bridleway or a byway. He
noted they were clear that it was some kind of public highway. Parish
Councillor R Cornwell noted there was a legal maxim of “once a highway,
always a highway”, the reference being Harvey v Truro Rural District Council:
1903. He noted the applicant accepted that a footpath exists running past
the application site (paragraph 2.3 of the Heritage Statement) and the
surveyor in 1854 said it was 15 feet wide. He noted that would be the legal
width of the footpath and added that the applicant had no right to narrow it to
1.4 metres, which was less than five feet.

Page 15

Parish Councillor R Cornwell explained the route of Flass Lane, now Ainsley
Street, was a green tongue running up to the Flass Well and below the
Miners’ Hall at Redhills. He added that quite aside from its legal status, it
was part of the Green Infrastructure which was the subject of CDP Policy 26.
He noted he was looking particularly at part of the Policy:
Development proposals will not be permitted that would result in the loss of
open space or harm to green infrastructure assets unless the benefits of the
development clearly outweigh that loss or harm and an assessment has
been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space or land to be
surplus to requirements.
He noted Policy G1 of the City of Durham Neighbourhood Plan also
protected Green Infrastructure with the relevant section reading:
Development proposals should have regard to the local distinctiveness,
character, quality and biodiversity of public rights of way and other footpaths.
Proposals which connect to, improve or extend the network of public rights of
way and improve its accessibility will be supported.
Parish Councillor R Cornwell explained Members would note the reference to
“other footpaths”, the precise status of the route was not relevant to this
Policy. He added that the parking bays blocked access unless you were a
pedestrian and narrowed that access if you were. He explained there were
plans to improve the area, which the parking bays would make more difficult,
with later speakers being able to inform Members more about those plans.
Parish Councillor R Cornwell noted the Parish Council agreed with the
conclusion of the Rights of Way team, when they stated:
“This path is within the red line boundary; however, as mentioned, a Land
Registry search reveals this land is unregistered. The applicant has not
demonstrated that they own or are in control of the land. It is not clear
therefore who would become responsible for maintaining or be liable for this
path. If approval is granted, then this needs to be clarified especially in the
event of a trip or accident. A third party, not the landowner nor the County
Council as Highway Authority, has laid and improved the path surface, so I
would assume that any potential future claims for public liability would be
directed towards the third party.
Furthermore, the proximity of a path directly next to residential property can
create amenity and or antisocial issues. This could become a concern, given
the narrowness of the path and could lead to a desire to close or stop up the
remainder of the path.

Page 16

We cannot support the application as it restricts public access by means of
fencing from the full width of the lane to a narrow 1.4 m width alongside
residential property”.
Parish Councillor R Cornwell concluded by noting, for all of those reasons,
the Parish Council urged the Committee to refuse the planning application.
The Chair thanked Parish Councillor R Cornwell and asked the Solicitor –
Planning and Development to respond to the points raised.
The Solicitor – Planning and Development noted in terms of the legal
disclosure or non-disclosure of the Barrister’s opinion submitted as part of
the applicant’s case, there was a separate process for such requests to be
made, and the Parish Council’s request had been passed to the appropriate
team within the Council to process that request.
He noted his advice was that it did not make a difference in terms of
determining the application, as the Council’s position was clear in terms of
the issue of the status of the application site, that the Council did not feel it
had sufficient evidence at the present time to assert that it was a highway,
essentially the same position as taken by the applicant. The Solicitor –
Planning and Development noted that even if there was sufficient evidence to
assert that the land was highway, that would not necessarily impact in terms
of the Officer’s assessment of the application, it would simply mean if
planning permission was granted the applicant would need to go through a
separate procedure to have that highway stopped up. He added that it was
not felt that the lack of disclosure of the legal opinion and/or the unclear
status of the land at present would have any material impact upon the
planning merits of the application. The Solicitor – Planning and Development
noted Parish Councillor R Cornwell referred to public liability in terms of the
remaining 1.4 metre pedestrian route to the side of the fenced area and while
it was not a matter for Members to consider in respect of the planning
application, it would be a matter to be considered outside of the planning
process.
The Chair thanked the Solicitor – Planning and Development and asked
Local Member, Councillor L Brown to speak in relation to the application.
Councillor L Brown thanked the Chair and Committee and noted she was
speaking at Committee to ask Members to refuse permission for what could
be construed as a land grab about which there had been considerable local
disquiet. She noted the planning history of the site was as described by the
Officer, however, she wished to clarify a few points. She explained that the
site of the old Companions Club was granted planning permission on the
grounds that it was a sustainable site close to public transport hubs, adding
that as such the parking spaces were reduced.

Page 17

She noted that then 3R found room for another flat and needed more parking
and the two bays were laid out, outside the boundary of the property on
Aynsley Street. She pointed out, as mentioned by Parish Councillor R
Cornwell, that the Rights of Way Officer had asked for the bays to be
removed, with the Committee report stating at Paragraph 69 that there was
strong circumstantial evidence that the site was highway land. She noted the
Miners’ Hall also felt that some of the land was within their curtilage, adding
that certainly ownership was in dispute.
Councillor L Brown explained that the area lay within the Durham City
Conservation Area very close to the Grade 2 listed building, The Miners’ Hall,
in fact it was overlooked by it as the applicants’ Heritage Statement made
clear. She noted the area was also just down the footpath from the Flass
Well, a non-designated heritage asset.
She noted that as such, the area received a great deal of protection from the
CDP and the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan which superseded the City of
Durham Saved local plans. She added that both the new plans were
supported by the NPPF.
Councillor L Brown noted Policy H2 of the new Neighbourhood Plan offered
similar protections to both Listed Buildings and non-designated heritage
assets, as well as the conservation area. She added that the design of the
parking bays was not in keeping with the area. Councillor L Brown added
that the wooden birds mouth fencing was obtrusive, with the plastic car
parking grid with the gravel inset not echoing any features within the area
and she noted the white plastic chain was “quite frankly nasty”.
Councillor L Brown noted point (k) of part H2 stated development in
Conservation Areas should “use high quality design sympathetic to the
character and context of the local area and its significance and
distinctiveness…”, adding the application quite plainly did not. She noted
furthermore that the eyesore affected the setting of not one, but two notable
structures which was in conflict with Neighbourhood Plan Policy H4. She
added she would also like to draw the Committee’s attention to Policy T1
which gave a hierarchy of transport where cars were very low on the list and
paragraph 4.261 gave a list of questions to be considered when assessing
car parking associated with new development including: “Does existing street
character rule out on-site parking?”; and “Are key local services conveniently
and safely accessible by walking, cycling and public transport?”. She noted
that the answer to those two questions were quite clearly No and Yes.

Page 18

Councillor L Brown noted the new CDP also protected Conservation areas
and the setting of notable buildings within it with Policy 44 stating that
applications in the Conservation Area must show “respect for, and
reinforcement of, the established, positive characteristics of the area in terms
of appropriate design (including pattern, layout, density, massing, features,
height, form, materials and detailing).” She noted that referring to Heritage
Assets the Plan asserted: “Development will be expected to sustain the
significance of designated and non-designated heritage assets, including any
contribution made by their setting.”. She added that Policy 21 dealt with
sustainable transport with paragraph 5.219 having a similar set of transport
policies to the Neighbourhood Plan and a similar position for car travel.
Councillor L Brown noted that if Committee were minded to approve the
application then she would ask Members to set certain conditions on
materials for the development because Committee would notice that, as it
was a retrospective application, there were none. She added that the area
was within a conservation area and deserved a sympathetic design.
She noted rear streets in the area were surfaced with granite cobs and she
suggested a surface that mixed granite cobs traditional paving slabs for the
pavement area and that the parking area was delineated by bollards, such as
seen in other parts of Ainsley Street. She added that the birds-mouth fencing
and the white plastic chain should be removed. Councillor L Brown noted the
materials she suggested would be far more in keeping with the conservation
area and the setting of two notable heritage assets. She added that the
developer surely could afford to pay a parking firm to police the area, as
other developers can and do.
Councillor L Brown concluded by noting she had quoted Neighbourhood Plan
Policies H2 and H4, CDP Policies 21 and 44, all of which were supported by
NPPF parts 9 and 16, in order to encourage the Committee to refuse the
application and she felt that Parish Councillor R Cornwell and herself had put
up very good arguments against the application, however, if Members were
still minded to approve, she would respectfully ask that they considered
placing conditions on the development so that materials were more
sympathetic to the surrounding notable buildings and that access was far
easier.
The Chair thanked Councillor L Brown and asked Officers to respond to the
points raised.
The Planning Officer noted in respect of ownership and “land grab” they were
not material planning concerns, however, the applicants did serve a notice in
the press which was the standard procedure if the owner of the land was
unknown and relevant certificates were served as part of the application.

Page 19

She added that the opinion of the impact upon the Conservation Area was
detailed within the report and it was felt to the impact on the Conservation
Area and the heritage assets was acceptable. She concluded by noting that
any change of materials was an issue for the Committee to consider if they
felt appropriate.
The Chair thanked the Officers and asked Ms Val Standen to speak on
behalf of the Friends of Flass Vale in objection to the application.
Ms V Standen thanked the Chair and explained she represented the Friends
of Flass Vale as Chairwoman of the community group, with the group having
over 200 members.
She explained that Flass Vale was a Local Wildlife Site and Local Nature
Reserve which had been very important to families, not just local, over the
past months as a safe retreat for exercise and enjoyment. She noted
Volunteers contributed over 1,000 person hours of hands-on conservation
work each year. She added that Ainsley Street and Flass Lane, were part of
a historic route running from the Market Place along the bottom of Flass Vale
and it was therefore the entrance to the nature reserve.
She noted, however, the lane had started to become dilapidated and
neglected, with the yard being used as dump, and therefore in March 2018
the Friends of Flass Vale outlined a project to improve the appearance of the
area which was approved in principle by Public Rights of Way department of
Durham County Council. Ms V Standen explained the Friends of Flass Vale
then began to make contact with stakeholders such as Miners’ Hall and the
Kings Lodge Hotel. She noted they had met on site with staff of the Miners’
Hall who, at that time, were preparing a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund to
renovate the Hall and its grounds which border Flass Lane. She added that
plan included the removal of unsafe tees, replanting with suitable tree
species, as well as work on Flass Well which was situated just beyond the
parking bays. She noted that the projected plan was then put on hold
because work started on the Companions Club. She added that on two
separate occasions she gave a copy of the proposed project to the
Development Site Manager for their information, suggesting that they might
support the project once their work was completed. She explained that the
plan included installing retractable bollards where the parking bays were now
to prevent cars parking there, but to still allow access for pedestrians and for
any works, such as tree felling, or emergency vehicles as needed.

Page 20

Ms V Standen concluded by explaining that the issue of two parking bays
may seem trivial but she would ask for support for local people, who had a
long term practical commitment to the area, in their desire to reject the
application and so maintain the semi-rural character of Flass Lane in the
wider context of the nature reserve, the historic roads of Durham and to allow
for better access.
The Chair thanked Ms V Standen and asked the Committee for their
comments and questions.
Councillor D Freeman noted he was a Member of the City of Durham Parish
Council; however, he was not a member of their Planning Committee and
had not been party to their submission in objection to the application. He
asked as regards the point raised by Councillor L Brown in terms of the
Council’s Rights of Way Team having told the developer of the parking bays
that they needed to be removed, he understood the issues as explained by
the Planning Officer and Solicitor, however, he felt it was important the
Committee should know whether the Team within the Council had stated that
the parking bays must be removed.
The Solicitor – Planning and Development noted the position was that while
the Public Rights of Way Team maintain their objection to the application and
would, in an ideal world, like the development to be removed, the strict legal
position was that they were not in a position to require it, as it was not felt
that the Council had sufficient evidence of its highways status. He reiterated
that the planning application had to be determined on the basis of the
situation at the moment, and while that may change in the future it was
outside of the scope of the planning system with a separate system under
which the issue may or may not be resolved in the future, not an issue for
Members of the Committee to try and resolve.
Councillor B Coult noted she understood the issue of ownership was outside
of the scope of the Committee, however, she felt the visual impact on the
Conservation Area, the green space and heritage was an issue, with the
development looking out of character and having a negative impact on the
Conservation Area.
Councillor P Taylor asked if there were any Officers present at the meeting
from the Design and Conservation Section. It was confirmed no Officers
from the section were present at the meeting. Councillor P Taylor noted he
would have wished to speak directly to an Officer. He explained that he was
horrified by the comments as set out within the report from Design and
Conservation that stated the development would have a “neutral effect”.

Page 21

He noted he felt it was not a neutral effect and while the application may only
be for two parking bays, after listening to representations from the Parish
Council and the Local Member, he felt that perhaps such issues were taken
too lightly. He noted the application was in a Conservation Area, the area
was part of our history and he felt the materials used were not acceptable,
adding that the materials would not be considered appropriate for Palace
Green and he felt they were similarly unsuitable for the application site.
Councillor M Davinson asked if permission was granted, and subsequently
the land was determined as being highway land, would the applicant be
required to reinstate the land to its previous state. He noted the deadline for
determining ownership was by 2026 and asked, if there was period by which
the application could be deferred by which time the status of the land would
be determined.
The Solicitor – Planning and Development explained that the two issues
were entirely separate and that if planning permission was granted by
Committee and it was subsequently discovered through better evidence that
the land was highway, the grant of planning permission would have no
impact upon that highway status. He added in that circumstance there would
be two possibilities, either the applicant could apply for a stopping up of the
highway or the Council’s Public Rights of Way Team or Highways Team
could “assert the highway”, informing the applicant that the structures needed
to be removed. He reiterated that the issue was entirely outwith the scope of
the application before Committee.
Councillor P Taylor noted many policies had been mentioned and lots of
reasons suggested for the justification of the parking bays being removed.
He noted he was drawn to Policy 44 “Historic Environment seeks to ensure
that developments should contribute positively to the built and historic
environment and seek opportunities to enhance and, where appropriate…”
and asked whether Members felt the application was compliant as he did not
believe it was.
Councillor D Freeman noted the situation had been described as a “land
grab” and explained he was interested in going back in time adding he
presumed the applicant was the same developer that had developed the
former Companions Club. He noted he could not recall if the development
was student accommodation or otherwise, however, he noted that at that
time the Council would have decided, in terms of the sustainability aspect of
that development whether extra car parking spaces were not required
outside of the development site of the former Companions Club. He noted
the current application was from the same developer, adding to the car
parking for the previous development and he felt that would be against the
original planning permission in the first place.

Page 22

He noted that if those additional parking spaces had been discussed at the
time of the original application, permission may have been refused as a
result of that aspect. He noted two extra car parking spaces, possibly on
highway, and added that, following the point raised by Councillor P Taylor, he
found it difficult to see how the current application was compatible with Policy
44 of the CDP, the application doing nothing to enhance the Conservation
Area of the city and that location in particular.
Councillor M Davinson asked if the application was deferred for a month
whether information as regards the highway status of the land could be
uncovered.
The Planning Officer noted in response to Councillor P Taylor that the issue
of the impact on the Conservation Area was set out at Paragraph 50 of the
report, with the impact being not to be harmful overall and therefore
acceptable in terms of Policy 44.
The Solicitor- Planning and Development noted that the public Rights of Way
Officer was present at the meeting and Members may wish to hear from him
in respect of the issues raised. He added that as he understood there would
be significant time and resource required to research the matter further and
therefore, he felt it would be unlikely that a determination could be made
within one month should the application be deferred.
The Senior Public Rights of Way Officer, Nick Howell noted that 2026 cut off
was the deadline for any applications coming in based upon historic
evidence, to be received by the Council before the 1 January 2026. He
noted that date may be reviewed by Government in due course, in light of
COVID-19 restrictions and access to records offices. In terms of such
applications, he explained that normally there may be one a year received,
however, following the introduction of the cut-off date by Government there
were currently around 10 applications being submitted each month from user
groups, with approximately 200 applications now being looked at by the
Council’s Definitive Map Officers. He noted that timescales in determining
such applications varied, with COVID-19 making access to record offices and
archives impossible and added that each application required in-depth
research in terms of historic documents, maps and Council minutes to be
able to make an interim decision. He added that individuals could object to
that interim decision and then it would need to be considered by the Planning
Inspectorate and he noted their timescales had also been affected, with
around a year for a public inquiry to be arranged. Accordingly, the Senior
Public Rights of Way Officer noted he felt a month to be able to determine
the status of the land would be impossible, however, the application would
continue to be researched and a decision would be made in due course.

Page 23

He reiterated the point made by the Solicitor – Planning and Development
that the Council would reserve the right to go back to the applicant to either
ask them to remove the development or apply for a stopping up.
The Chair thanked the Senior Public Rights of Way Officer and asked for
clarification in terms of, if the Committee were minded to approve the
application, whether the Public Rights of Way Section would be able to come
back with whatever actions deemed necessary based upon the outcome of
the investigation into the status of the land. The Senior Public Rights of Way
Officer noted the risk was for the applicant, with the Council reserving the
right to seek action outside of the planning process under Highways Act
powers.
Councillor P Taylor thanked the Planning Officer and noted Paragraph 50 of
the report which stated: “Overall, the development has changed the
appearance of the site but the resulting impact on the designated heritage
asset of Durham City Centre Conservation Area as a whole is negligible and
not considered harmful and therefore preserves the setting and character of
the area”. He noted he disagreed with the report and asked if Members of
the Committee agreed.
The Chair thanked Members for their comments and questions and asked if
any Member wished to propose a motion in respect of the application.
Councillor P Taylor noted he would propose that the application was refused
as he felt it was contrary to Policy 44 of the CDP, the application did not
preserve the character and appearance of the area, adding he felt the
development was a dreadful thing to have a happened to a much loved and
respected area of the city.
Councillor B Coult seconded Councillor P Taylor’s proposal to refuse the
application.
The Solicitor – Planning and Development asked if there was any particular
aspect of the development that Members felt was incongruous or had an
adverse negative impact on the character of the Conservation area or
heritage assets, such as the materials used, or whether it was the overall
appearance of the development.
Councillor P Taylor noted it was all the elements, the gravel surface, birds
mouth fencing, the plastic chain, noting he did not feel it fit in with the historic
nature of the city.

Page 24

The Area Planning Team Leader - Central and East, Sarah Eldridge noted
that following Councillor P Taylor citing CDP Policy 44, there were
corresponding policies within the Neighbourhood Plan and the NPPF, namely
Policy H2 and part 16 respectively, which Members may also wish to
consider.
Councillor P Taylor noted he would be happy to add those to his reasons for
refusal, noting he felt Policy 44 would have been a strong enough policy for
refusal in any case.
Councillor M Davinson reiterated the comments made by Councillor L Brown
in terms of noting similar parking provision in other neighbouring areas which
had been constructed sympathetically and asked if it would be add that to the
list of refusal reasons as he felt that was also an important point.
The Chair asked the Solicitor – Planning and Development whether that
would be possible. The Solicitor – Planning and Development noted the
suggestion was an amplification of the reasons put forward by Councillor P
Taylor in terms of the visual impact and did not see any problem with a
reference to a lack of sympathy with the other car parking provision within the
immediate surrounding area.
Upon a vote being taken it was:
RESOLVED
That the application be REFUSED as it was considered that the proposal by
virtue of its design, materials and location had an adverse visual impact
within the streetscene and conservation area and also was not considered to
be in keeping with the character and appearance of other parking spaces
within the area, thereby failing to preserve or enhance the character and
appearance of the conservation area, contrary to policy 44 of the County
Durham Plan, policy H2 of the emerging City of Durham Neighbourhood Plan
and part 16 of the NPPF.

c

DM/20/02195/FPA - Land North East of Grange Farm, Old
Cassop, DH6 4QA

The Senior Planning Officer, Paul Hopper, gave a detailed presentation on
the report relating to the abovementioned planning application, a copy of
which had been circulated (for copy see file of minutes). Members noted that
the written report was supplemented by a visual presentation which included
photographs of the site. The application was for the demolition of agricultural
building and construction of 7no. holiday let units with associated car parking
and landscaping and was recommended for approval subject to conditions.

Page 25

The Senior Planning Officer referred Members to the location plan and aerial
photograph and noted the application site was within the Old Cassop
Conservation Area and an Area of High Landscape Value (AHLV). He noted
the predominantly rural setting with the application site framed by farmland
and a cluster of residential dwellings at Old Cassop. He explained access to
the village was taken by a single width lane from the west by the A688 and
the north by the A181.
The Committee were shown a number of site photographs showing the site
and the site in context, with the Senior Planning Officer noting the public right
of way which crossed the site, and the relationship with the nearest
residential building and wider surrounding area. The Senior Planning Officer
referred to further photographs showing the access to the site, the road
leading towards Silent Bank, the A181 and also the main route through Old
Cassop, a single width lane.
The Senior Planning Officer referred to the proposed site layout plan and
noted the proposed holiday lets would be conversions that would broadly
occupy the footprint of the existing building, set around a central courtyard.
He noted access would utilise the existing arrangement with the unclassified
road to the west, car parking would be provided to the south of the buildings
and soft landscaping would be provided to the north of the site with a native
species hedgerow around the site and some additional tree planting. He
noted two trees would be lost to the development, however, replacement
planting was proposed.
The Senior Planning Officer referred to the proposed layout and elevations of
the holiday lets. He highlighted the Committee report should have contained
a condition that required a submission and agreement of privacy glass to the
balcony shown, to provide extra privacy for users of the unit and the nearest
adjacent property. Members were asked to note the mix of materials
proposed and referred to a 3D visualisation provided by the applicant, though
the Senior Planning Officer noted elements of the landscaping that were
included would take time to be as established as represented within the
visualisation.
In respect of consultee responses, the Senior Planning Officer noted the
Highways Authority noted no objections subject to conditions ensuring new
passing places, upgrades to existing passing places and the creation of a
prohibited right turn onto the A181. He added that the report had not
included a condition relating to a request from the Highways Authority for a
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) for no entry via the western access from the
A181 and referred Members to photographs highlighting the proposed TRO.

Page 26

He noted Northumbrian Water had not commented on the application and the
Council’s Drainage and Coastal Protection Section had confirmed no
consultation was required.
The Senior Planning Officer noted representations had been received from
Cassop-cum-Quarrington Parish Council objecting to the application citing
concerns regarding the suitability of the development for the location and
highway safety. He noted the Environment Agency had not commented on
the application.
In reference to internal and statutory consultee responses, the Senior
Planning Officer noted Design and Conservation had no objections to the
application, noting the development would have a positive impact upon the
Old Cassop Conservation Area. He noted the Landscape Section and
Arborist had no objections to the application. He explained that the Public
Rights of Way Team had no objection to the application, however, had noted
that the Council would only maintain the surface of the public right of way to
the standard necessary for pedestrians, cyclists and equestrians. The Senior
Planning Officer noted no objections from the Contaminated Land Section,
Environmental Health Officer and Ecology Team subject to conditions.
It was noted that the Campaign for the Protection for Rural England (CPRE)
had objected to the application citing concerns regarding highways safety
and the impact upon visual amenity and the Old Cassop Conservation Area.
The Senior Planning Officer noted a number of objections to the application
had been received, with 12 letters of objection and representations from the
three Local Members for the Electoral Division with the concerns raised
including: unacceptable impact on highway safety from increased traffic,
noting the narrow single lane nature of the unclassified road; the adverse
impact upon the public right of way; adverse impact upon residential amenity;
impact upon the conservation area; the area being unsuitable for
development of that type; the development did not promote Healthy
Communities; adverse impact on local wildlife and biodiversity; the impact on
the balance of the existing community from transient visitors; and concerns
over how the remaining land would be farmed.
The Senior Planning Officer noted that in terms of the principle of
development, Policy 8 of the CDP provided a policy framework in support of
new visitor accommodation where it met stated criteria, broadly in accord
with national policy as outlined within the report. He noted Policy 8 required
new visitor accommodation in the countryside to meet an identified need,
albeit being an extension to an existing facility, and that it respected the
character of the countryside and demonstrated clear opportunities to make
the location more sustainable.

Page 27

In terms of need, the Senior Planning Officer noted the application had
received basic support from Visit County Durham. He added that in terms of
maximising opportunities to make the site sustainable, there was a large
provision of cycle storage for visitors and noted links to the cycle network to
the south of the site.
The Senior Planning Officer explained that the development would result in
additional movements on the surrounding road network and the application
was accompanied by a Highway Statement. He noted that proposed
mitigation in the form of the passing places to be constructed and existing
passing places to be upgraded as well as the arrangements in relation to the
junction with the A181. He noted those measures could be secured via
conditions and that the Highways Authority were satisfied they would mitigate
any adverse impact of the development in highway safety terms.
In respect of the impact upon the public right of way in was noted that whilst
the development would introduce vehicles to part of the route, that was the
case when the site was in agricultural use. The Senior Planning Officer
noted concerns had been raised that the proposals would be a breach of
Section 34 of the Road Traffic Act, however, colleagues from the Highways
Section and Public Rights of Way Team both noting that would not be the
case.
The Senior Planning Officer noted that in terms of the impact on the
Conservation Area and AHLV, the application was subject to pre-application
advice and proposals were reflective of the comments from the Council’s
Landscape and Design and Conservation sections.
He added the Design and Conservation Officer considered that the
development would have a beneficial impact on the Conservation Area
through the removal of the agricultural buildings and replacement with what
was considered to be a sensitive and redevelopment of the site. It was
explained that any landscape and visual impact upon the AHLV could be
mitigated through an appropriately designed landscape scheme, secured
through condition.
The Senior Planning Officer noted the development would introduce seven
holiday units in a rural location and would have some impact in terms of
increased noise, with a noise management plan having been submitted as
part of the development, reviewed by Officers from Environmental Health.
He added that the development had sought to mitigate any impacts through
its design, with details as listed in the report in terms of further mitigation how
the site would be managed and control over external areas within the
development, with Officers from Environmental Health being comfortable
subject to conditions. It was reiterated there would be a condition requiring
the submission and details of the privacy glass.

Page 28

The Committee were informed that in terms of all other issues, the impact of
the development could be mitigated through conditions as detailed in the
report.
The Senior Planning Officer noted that the application was considered
acceptable in principle and one which could be satisfactory accommodated
by reasons of size, scale mass, layout and appearance and in accordance
with Policies 8, 10, 21, 26, 29, 31 and 41 of the CDP. He added that the
development was considered to meet the requirements of paragraphs 193
and 197 of the NPPF and Policy 44 of the CDP and Section 72 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as it would
enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.
He noted that whilst the concerns of residents and Local Councillors had
been considered as part of the proposal, it was felt, on the basis of
consultation responses and consideration of the application that they were
not considered to be sufficient to justify refusal of the application and any
issues or any impact could be mitigated through condition. The Senior
Planning Officer referred Members to a slide setting out the proposed
additional conditions relating to the TRO and privacy glass as discussed,
which had been agreed in principle with the applicant.
The Chair thanked the Senior Planning Officer and asked Local Members,
Councillors J Blakey, S Dunn and M McKeon to speak in objection to the
application.
Councillor J Blakey thanked the Chair and Committee and explained she
would wish the Committee to vote against the application because of the
impact it would have on residents. She added that the historical hamlet
should be preserved at all costs, with there already being traffic issues in the
area. She noted there were no footpaths for pedestrians or provision in
terms of bridleways or for cyclists. She noted the application was against
national policy in respect of building in the countryside and she felt that there
had not been any thought to the design with it not appearing to fit with the
existing buildings.
Councillor J Blakey noted there was no investment into the local
community and noted the passing points were not maintained by the County
Council, it was by the residents themselves. She noted incidents with
accidents with delivery wagons leaving the road, as it was a single track.
She added that the location was not sustainable, with the nearest shop being
four miles away. She explained there was nothing at all to support the area
through what was being developed, with the only enhancement being for the
developer and with nothing for the existing residents.

Page 29

Councillor J Blakey referred to the citing of Policy 44 by Councillor P Taylor
in the previous application and noted that she felt similarly that the current
application did not enhance the area, adding that conservation was not just
about Durham City. She added that accidents on the A181, because of the
speed of the traffic along that particular section usually resulted in a fatality
and she concluded by reiterating she would ask Committee to refuse the
application.
The Chair thanked Councillor J Blakey and asked Councillor S Dunn to
speak in relation to the application, noting he had accompanying slides and a
video as part of his presentation.
Councillor S Dunn thanked the Chair and Committee and talked Members
through a brief video demonstrating the roads and routes relating to the
application, including use of passing places, the context of the width of the
roads, access points and visibility issues, the route through the village and
access on to and from the A181.
Councillor S Dunn referred to paragraphs within the report, setting out his
responses on a slide for the Committee, noting he felt the development
brough virtually no benefits for the hamlet of Old Cassop and that the only
acceptable remediation would be for demolition of the unsightly barns and
restoration of the countryside. He added he felt the development did not
conserve the historic environment or any historically valuable buildings and
represented unacceptable growth that would inevitably become permanent
housing. He noted that while there was a need for the type of visitor
accommodation proposed, the location in Old Cassop was not suitable and
the application did not make Old Cassop any more sustainable. Councillor S
Dunn noted that he felt the conditions relating to the installation and
upgrading of passing places would be circumvented and that the additional
traffic from the development could not be safely accommodated even with
the enhanced passing places. He asked the Committee that the application
be refused.
Councillor S Dunn concluded by quoting an objection from a local resident
who had stated: “Old Cassop will be changed forever and out of the 25
households, 12 will be owned by the applicant. Is this to become his own
personal hamlet? This will give him more leverage for a slew of future
applications which will surely follow. Old Cassop will no longer be valued
historically as one of the few remaining agricultural hamlets but as holiday
park with no amenities and a treacherous road running through its heart”.
The Chair thanked Councillor S Dunn and asked Councillor M McKeon to
speak in relation to the application.

Page 30

Councillor M McKeon explained that Old Cassop was a lovely, small agrarian
community with a big problem that affected many long established rural
communities. She noted that the problem was the hamlet was a nightmare
to get to, with two roads into the village one from the A181, a fast moving
road, and the other from Red Briar Bank the road between Quarrington Hill
and the Bowburn bypass. She explained she was a Governor at the school
located at Quarrington Hill and noted that there were lots of conversations as
regards the drive to the school and at what times that route would be an
appropriate route to use, given it was very narrow, steep, had poor visibility
and with it being frequently covered in leaves and detritus it was treacherous
in winter.
She noted the roads to the village were themselves narrow, single track and
enclosed by ancient hedgerows and there were already frequent issues with
traffic on the road, in particular between Red Briar Bank and the hamlet, with
the A181 being virtually impassable during winter. She added there were
ongoing issues in terms of fly-tipping with items including ball-bearings and
others items that were dangerous to motorists.
Councillor M McKeon noted that the roads were such that one needed to
know the area well to be able to drive along it safely and explained that
visitors to a holiday home, using the home as a base to explore the area,
would be travelling back and forth along unfamiliar roads, increasing the
pressure on roads that were already not fit for purpose. She added there
were no bus stops near the village, no footpaths and therefore to get in or out
of the hamlet private car use was required. She noted the hamlet lacked all
amenities, from plumbing to shops and pubs and explained the Council had
already recognised the problem 5 years ago when planning permission was
sought on the same property by a company of which the current applicant
was a Director. Councillor M McKeon noted that proposed development was
for the conversion of the existing barns to new residential use. She noted
that the Highways Department made comments about the road between Old
Cassop and the A181 that “intensification of use of the Y-junction would
create considerable concern for safe movement of traffic on the A181
which is already subject to road safety concerns”. She explained that
Officers then noted a previous fatality on the site and the unsuitability of the
location due to the aforementioned lack of local amenities. She noted that
permission was eventually given with an explicit condition that the developer
installed a network of passing places on the road between the Bowburn
bypass and Old Cassop. She noted the Council agreed the plans for the
passing places in 2016 and building commenced, however, the passing
places did not materialise, and residents noted that only recently had works
been undertaken.

Page 31

Councillor M McKeon noted that in terms of the current application, Officers
were minded to approve the application providing the applicant upgraded five
existing passing places on the road to the Bowburn bypass and create two
new ones close to the junction. She noted a feeling on déjà vu as
reassurance was given that the outcome could be controlled by condition,
however, as a near identical condition had been given to a near identical
approval for the same applicant five years ago the wording of the condition
did not protect the village for several years with residents having lived with
the consequences. She noted that the current application was of more
concern to her as a Local Member than the application from five years ago
as the previous application was for dwellings and the current application for
holidays lets implied a higher volume of traffic, more travelling and drivers
who did not know the area. She added that even with the inclusion of more
passing places the road would remain too dangerous for seven holiday lets’
worth of tourists to use on a regular basis. Councillor M McKeon explained
that even with the TRO, the concerns in terms of the road to the Bowburn
bypass would remain and the displaced traffic from the TRO would have to
move to the other road. She concluded by noting she hoped the Committee
would recognise the unsuitability of the location for holiday lets and deny
permission.
The Chair thanked the Local Members and asked Officers to respond to the
issues raised.
The Senior Planning Officer noted issues raised in terms of the sustainability
of the location, and noted sustainability was referred to within Policy 8, Part
1, subsection (f) where visitor accommodation in the countryside was
required to demonstrate clear opportunities to make its location more
sustainable. He reminded Members of reference within his presentation of
access to the wider public rights of way network to the south of the site and
that was weighed in the balance in consideration of the development,
demonstrating broad accordance with that policy.
In reference to the footage provided by Councillor S Dunn, he noted it spoke
for itself and he would only note that the manoeuvre in terms of returning
back onto the unclassified road from the A181 would be prohibited through
the TRO.
The Senior Planning Officer explained that in reference to the removal of the
buildings being the best scenario in terms of improving the conservation
area, he felt that it was unlikely any works would be undertaken in that regard
without associated redevelopment of the site. He noted the scheme
delivered that and referred to the comments of the Design and Conservation
Officer in terms of the beneficial impact he felt the development would have
on the Conservation Area.

Page 32

He noted that in reference to the 2015 application for the conversion of an
agricultural building to the south of the site, that application had been granted
consent subject to a condition that required an upgrade and installation of
passing places along the western leg of the unclassified road and noted an
enforcement case relating to the occupation of that site, the condition being
tied to the occupation of the property. He noted that subsequently works
were undertaken in December 2019, with enforcement noting that the
requirements of those conditions having been met. He noted the current
application was to be judged on its own merits and there was a mitigation
proposed, to be secured through condition, to overcome issues, based upon
the advice of he Highways Authority and it was worded such that no
development on the application site could take place until the passing places
were installed and were usable.
The Solicitor – Planning and Development reiterated the points made by the
Senior Planning Officer in terms of the enforcement history associated with
the previous development and that the issues with passing places linked to
that previous development were not directly relevant to the application being
considered by Members. He noted the Committee needed to operate on the
basis that any conditions that would be imposed if the application were to be
approved would be complied with and if there was an issue of noncompliance in the future that would be a separate matter for the relevant
enforcement team.
The Chair thanked the Officers and asked local resident, Ms Dawn WatsonLove to speak in objection to the application.
Ms D Watson-Love thanked the Chair and Committee for the opportunity to
speak and noted she represented the residents of Old Cassop, eight of
whom objected to the application. She noted she wished to speak to the
Councillors of the Committee as she imagined one of the reasons they would
have become a Councillor was to represent the communities in which they
lived and to try and make a difference to the lives of people within County
Durham. She explained that the decision the Committee would make today
would have an impact upon everyone living in Old Cassop and added that it
was not a decision she had taken lightly in terms of speaking to Committee,
something which she noted was outside of her comfort zone.
Ms D Watson-Love noted she was not a NIMBY (not in my backyard), and
added that if the development had been smaller, did not have as much
associated traffic, or was in a different location she felt she probably would
not have objected. She added that in relation to the other development
within Old Cassop she had supported those developments. She added that
she took her children to school along the road Councillor S Dunn had shown
in his video and felt she was putting her and her children’s lives at risk with
the current level of traffic.

Page 33

She noted that in winter there were numerous accidents and over the last
two winters there had been multiple vehicles piled up, vans had over-turned,
her husband’s car had been written off in addition to the incidents as
described by Councillors J Blakey and S Dunn.
Ms D Watson-Love noted there were no speed restrictions and asked
Members to recall the images of the road passing through the hamlet and to
understand that speeds of vehicle could be 60, 70 or 80 mph, as the route
was an established rat-run, and that had been a contributory factor to the
accidents that occurred.
Ms D Watson-Love noted the references made to the passing places and
whether they should or should not have been installed and added that in her
opinion the passing places did not deal with root cause the accidents. She
noted a meeting as regards the issues, prior to lockdown, where the cause
was determined as being drivers not knowing the roads and understanding
the risks and too many vehicles using the road. She added the road was
more of a farm track and on a previous journey from the A688 she had been
delayed for 25 minutes due to sheep on the road.
She explained that therefore the TRO to prevent traffic entering from the
A181 was going to have such an impact and she felt it should not be part of a
planning condition and should have been open to consultation.
Ms D Watson-Love noted that in terms of the scale of the development there
would be seven holiday cottages with up to six bedrooms, 15 car parking
spaces, though with potential for up to 22 vehicles, and therefore one could
imagine the amount of traffic on the road and, as Local Members had
mentioned, there were no services within the hamlet, there was no pub, no
ability to purchase a pint of milk or a newspaper, those requiring a journey by
car. She added that there was nothing within the application that supported
Policy 21 in terms of sustainable development, noting there was nothing
sustainable in terms of the level of traffic from the scheme and felt it was a
fatality waiting to happen. She noted that it may be acceptable for a
Highways Consultant sitting 300 miles away in Milton Keynes on their
computer to look at the application and think the paths and passing places
were acceptable and would reduce the risks, however, she felt that nobody in
their right mind would approve or support the application if they had to drive
along those roads every day like residents.
Ms D Watson-Love noted in terms of Policy 21 there was no evidence in
relation to the level of traffic from the development that could be safely
accommodated and added she felt there was nothing within the application
or the Committee report that demonstrated the level of traffic could be
accommodated.

Page 34

She explained she felt the application contravened Policy 10 which referred
to development in the countryside which stated that it would not be
acceptable if there was prejudice to highway safety. She noted Policy 8
stated that holiday accommodation would only be permitted if it was
appropriate in scale and character, and pointed out that visitors would
outnumber residents, 49 to 45. She noted there were issues in terms of the
public right of way, with 15 car parking spaces that could be accessed along
the right of way, another accident waiting to happen. Ms D Watson-Love
noted there would be vehicles coming in and out at peak departure and
arrival times.
Ms D Watson-Love concluded by thanking the Committee and asking them
to note that it was not an exaggeration to say that the decision they made
today could save lives or further endanger them and to use common sense.
She noted the underlying issue was, for all the mention of sustainability
within policy, that there was nothing sustainable about the scheme in terms
of the scale of the development, the amount of traffic, there were no services
and the development would cause absolute misery every day for the local
residents. She noted there had been no benefits to the community from the
2016 application and were none within the current application either.
The Chair thanked Ms Dawn Watson-Love and noted Councillor S Dunn wish
to make a point of clarification.
Councillor S Dunn noted for clarity that on his return journey in his video he
had turned right off the A181 and that right turn would still be allowed, the
proposed TRO would prevent turning from the next right hand turning along
at the Y-junction, the one after the one he had used.
The Chair noted the comments and asked Mr Joe Ridgeon, agent for the
applicant, to speak in support of the application.
Mr J Ridgeon thanked the Chair and Committee for the opportunity to speak
in support of the application.
He explained that Old Cassop was ideally located to support the visitor
attractions of County Durham, with fantastic views of Durham Cathedral and
being just off the new Northern Saints walking route. He added that with
easy access to the City and the Coast it was an ideal location for the
development of luxury holiday accommodation. He noted a lot of time and
effort had gone into ensuring that the right scheme was before Members, in
compliance with Policy 8, and he and the applicant were grateful for the
support from Visit County Durham during the development of the scheme. He
added that the holiday properties would bring people to the area, helping
support the nearby tourism and hospitality businesses, which have taken
such a hit recently.

Page 35

Mr J Ridgeon explained that the diversification project came about due to the
current buildings becoming surplus to requirements and given the site's
location, there was an ideal opportunity to invest in alternative development
to support the wider farm business, helping cushion any future changes to
the UK farming economy.
Mr J Ridgeon noted that the high quality design had been integral to the
proposals, which had been landscape and heritage-led from the outset to
ensure they enhanced the area. He added that the proposal used both the
current built form and the historic plan form to inform and inspire the scheme,
ensuring that the proposal reflects the existing historic context in terms of
scale, massing and materials. He welcomed the comments from the Design
and Conservation Officer that the proposals would result in a beneficial
impact and net gain to the character, appearance and significance of Old
Cassop, fully in compliance with Policy 44. During the application additional
landscaping has been proposed as part of the scheme to address comments
from the Landscape Officer.
Mr J Ridgeon explained, as set out in the application, the properties would be
responsibly managed to minimise any adverse impacts on local residents.
He added that, when booking, guests would be advised on the best route to
the property and be provided with 'Welcome packs' which would set out
expectations for the guests in terms of respecting nearby residents. He
noted the packs would also provide an opportunity to let guests know about
local attractions, facilities and services in the area.
Mr J Ridgeon noted the concerns from neighbouring residents in relation to
potential highway impacts had been addressed from the outset, with
additional passing places proposed as part of the application. He added that
the type of use would have the least amount of impact during peak hours,
with holiday makers unlikely to be using the road during morning and evening
rush hours and school no runs. He explained that the applicant proposed
that the additional passing places were in place prior to commencement
of development, which could be controlled by appropriately worded condition.
Mr J Ridgeon noted that, in addition, the Council had requested a further
highway improvement to be delivered as part of this application which were
detailed in the Highway Statement dated 21 October and the TRO as
discussed. He noted this was welcomed, with the requested change to the
road priority benefiting existing residents and future visitors.
Mr J Ridgeon explained those road improvements, which would otherwise
not be delivered, will mitigate both the impact of the holiday accommodation
and addressed some of the existing issues that residents experienced, which
Members had heard about.

Page 36

Mr J Ridgeon noted that there was huge demand for more holiday
accommodation in the County. He added tourism was an important part of
the local economy, and the development would be a benefit because of the
increased spending averages of visitors staying overnight. He noted the
scheme was very high quality and would result in enhancement to the
Conservation Area.
Mr J Ridgeon explained the development therefore accorded with local
policy, and specifically Policy 8 and Policy 44, and national policy and would
help support the Visitor Economy in County Durham, including a beneficial
impact on the local area through new jobs and increased spending and
delivery of highway improvements.
Mr J Ridgeon concluded by respectfully requesting that Members approve
the application, subject to the proposed planning conditions, adding he was
more than happy to answer any questions Members may have.
The Chair thanked Mr J Ridgeon and asked the Committee for their
comments and questions.
Councillor P Taylor noted the contrast between the last two speakers’
comments, the resident and the applicant’s agent. He added he felt it was a
case of what looked good on paper being totally different to the reality of a
situation. He thanked the Local Members for their insight and noted, when
looking at the report, he had felt that the application had looked to be a good
idea. He noted he travelled along the A181 regularly, however, he had not
travelled along the unclassified road adding he felt if Members had been
undertaking site visits, it would have proven impossible to get to the site. He
noted that if he was going down that road in the snow, he would probably
abandon his car. He added he was horrified by the state of the roads as
shown in the video footage, though the village had appeared wonderful. He
noted he felt the application was not sustainable and explained he took the
contrary view to everything that was said by the applicant’s agent and when
mentioning welcome packs for users of the cottages there was no mention of
local people whatsoever. He noted his opinion on paper was completely
different to the reality and thanked all the speakers for opening his eyes.
Councillor J Shuttleworth noted he was not against development in the
countryside, however, he felt it was important to listen to residents and what
Local Members had said and from their comments it was clear it was in the
wrong place. He noted that he felt the application should be refused as it
was wrong for the area and that it was an accident waiting to happen. He
noted the proposal in another location may not have been a problem,
however, the access issues and the amount of development meant it was not
right for Old Cassop or its residents.

Page 37

The Chair asked the Principal Highway Development Management Engineer,
Dave Smith to comment on the issues raised.
The Principal Highway Development Management Engineer noted the
comments from speakers and Members in relation to the traffic to the
proposed development and added he wished to give some perspective in
terms of what sort of traffic the development would generate as a holiday
destination. He explained that Junction 61 of the A1(M) would likely be the
area where most traffic would come from in terms of tourists, coming via the
A688 and then along the unclassified road where the inter-visible passing
places would be provided. He explained that seven inter-visible passing
places would be provided along that route which would benefit the residents
and all road users. He added that, in terms of the passing places agreed,
they would be to full road construction standards to allow vehicles to pass
each other, 5.5 metres wide and 18 metres in length. He noted that
ultimately, they would benefit everyone in that location in terms of highway
safety, being a positive impact making it safer for existing residents.
The Principal Highway Development Management Engineer noted there
were few houses at Old Cassop and there were very low volumes of traffic
on the unclassified road both from the A181 and the A688 adding those
volumes represented light traffic. He referred to the video provided by
Councillor S Dunn and noted there was nothing unusual in terms of the
video, they were typical country roads similar to those throughout the county
and added that people should drive to the conditions and give way to people.
In reference to the TRO, the Principal Highway Development Management
Engineer he noted the right turn manoeuvres that would be omitted and
referred to anti-skid barrier systems and bollards that had been installed in
the past and had improved highway safety at that location. He noted that
there had been a reduction in accidents in the area, and in checking the
accident statistics relating to the unclassified highway, there had been only
two accidents recorded over the last five years, which did not give rise to a
significant highway safety impact, given how the development would operate
in terms of low trip distribution from the development.
The Principal Highway Development Management Engineer noted in
summary that there was low volume of traffic, journeys outside of peak traffic
times, mitigation in terms of the A181 junction improvement and the
upgraded and additional inter-visible passing places and he added that,
taking all those elements together, it could not be claimed that there was a
significant highways impact. He added that he felt an Inspector would not
refuse the application on highways grounds.

Page 38

Councillor A Laing noted she agreed with the comments made by Councillor
P Taylor and congratulated the three Local Members for their work on behalf
of residents.
Councillor P Taylor noted the comments of the Principal Highway
Development Management Engineer and thanked him for the information,
however, he felt he did not understand the points made and would find it
difficult to make a decision without seeing the site and routes, or a
presentation by Officers similar to that made by Councillor S Dunn. He
understood the statement was professional and well thought out, however,
he felt he did not understand it. He noted he was struggling to come to a
considered decision and reiterated that similar evidence to that of Councillor
S Dunn, provided by Officers, would have been useful.
The Chair asked as regards the TRO and whether it was conditional on the
application being approved, whether the additional passing places were also
conditional on approval, and whether anything else would be done in terms
of the existing passing places.
The Principal Highway Development Management Engineer noted in respect
of the passing place provision, that had been looked at by the Highways
Department, with the Senior Planning Officer having a copy of the plan
setting out the provision of the additional passing places and where existing
places would be upgraded, he noted seven in total to allow safe operation of
the unclassified road to the development site. He noted he understood from
the Senior Planning Officer that the condition was pre-commencement in
terms of the adoption standard passing places. In respect of the TRO, he
noted that there had been dialogue with the Police and the Council’s Traffic
Department in respect of banning the right turn, though he would need to
check with Highways colleagues to understand at what stage that was at. He
added that before the proposed development would commence the Council
would want to ensure that through a Grampian condition that would be put in
place to alleviate those manoeuvres. He noted that a lot of the trips would be
from the A1(M), the Bowburn direction and he felt that traffic would come
from the west to the development and therefore he felt that mitigation,
secured on top of the passing places overall was such that it would be
difficult to argue that there was severe highways impact as there was low
traffic volumes and low accident statistics along the unclassified lane. He
reiterated that the Authority would want the passing places and TRO to be in
place and secured before the development was ready for holiday visitors as
residents would be affected if those measures were not put in place. He
explained that it would be to ensure they were all built to the correct
highways standards and carried out through the proper processes in terms of
the TRO stopping the right turn manoeuvre.

Page 39

The Chair asked if the Senior Planning Officer would clarify as regards the
TRO, whether it was tied to the approval of the development or otherwise.
The Senior Planning Officer reiterated the point made by the Principal
Highway Development Management Engineer that the provision of the
passing places was solely tied to the proposed development, without the
development there was no mechanism in terms of them being provided. In
respect of the TRO, he noted this had been brought forward through
condition as part of the application and he was not aware of any application
being made outside of the planning process.
The Chair asked whether the TRO would only go ahead if the application
was approved, even with the Police noting the junction was dangerous. The
Senior Planning Officer noted that was the case at present.
The Solicitor – Planning and Development brought to the Chair’s attention a
point of order, with some present at the meeting making use of the chat
function to comment. The Chair thanked the Solicitor – Planning and
Development and noted the chat function was solely for use in terms of
Members of the Committee requesting to speak.
Councillor A Laing noted that when the Principal Highway Development
Management Engineer had responded to questions in terms of accidents and
noted two over the last five years, the local resident Ms D Watson-Love
appeared to disagree and therefore residents may know of more incidents.
The Chair noted the meeting had moved on to the Members’ debate and
asked Councillor Robinson to speak next.
Councillor J Robinson noted the application had highlighted the value of site
visits and explained he would wish to propose refusal of the application on
the basis of highways safety, having found the statement of the local resident
compelling, and also on the effect on residents, with potentially more people
visiting than residents. He added that therefore on highway safety and
impact upon the residents he would move refusal.
Councillor B Coult asked, if the establishment was approved, would it be
open all year round or would it operate seasonally. The Senior Planning
Officer noted there were no restrictions, only that it was not occupied as a
sole residence.
Councillor A Laing noted she would second the refusal proposal made by
Councillor J Robinson.

Page 40

The Solicitor – Planning and Development noted he would advise Members
against a refusal based on highways safety, adding that while clearly the
decision rested with Members, he wished to make Members aware of the
risks that might be faced upon appeal given the professional Officer’s view in
terms of the impacts on highway safety. He noted the technical advice given
by the Principal Highway Development Management Engineer in that the
highway in question would be lightly trafficked, there would not be a
significant additional number of vehicle movements associated with the
development and in any event, the mitigation by way of the proposed TRO
and improvements to existing and additional passing places would
sufficiently address any of those impacts that might arise. He reminded
Members that highway safety issues were quite technical, and it was often
quite difficult to sustain a refusal reason on highway safety which was
contrary to the professional Officer’s advice. He reiterated that Members
could make the decision, however, he wished for Members to be aware that
there could be significant difficulty sustaining that reason for refusal on
appeal.
Councillor J Robinson noted he still felt he believed the information given by
the local resident when she spoke and he felt that there would be impact
upon the residents of the community, the fact there were a limited number of
people in that community and that it would affect their whole lifestyle and he
believed the application should be turned down. He noted that Councillor J
Blakey had referred to Councillor P Taylor’s comments on the previous
application relating to Policy 44 of the CDP, and he noted a similar situation
in Old Cassop to that in Durham City and that Policy 44 would therefore
apply.
Councillor P Taylor noted the statement within the report from the Highways
Section and a really good presentation from Principal Highway Development
Management Engineer, however, the still did not understand the situation,
not being able to see the situation physically. He noted a plan setting out the
location of the passing places had been mentioned by the Officer, adding he
had not seen that plan. He added that he would respond to the Solicitor –
Planning and Development in that he would go against what Highways had
said as he did not understand the case being made.
The Solicitor – Planning and Development noted he would advise Councillor
P Taylor that if he did not feel he understood the advice from the technical
Officer or that he felt he may need further advise to come to a reasonable
view it may be that the best course of action would be to defer for any
additional information to be forthcoming. He added he would be concerned if
Members were making a decision whilst saying they did not fully understand
some of the highways issues.

Page 41

The Senior Planning Officer noted the plan referred to in respect of the
passing places had formed part of the application pack that was available to
view online, and he asked the Chair if it would be useful to share that on
screen with the Committee. The Chair agreed that would be helpful. The
Senior Planning Officer referred Members to a plan setting out the proposed
additional passing places and upgraded passing places and noted all would
be constructed in line with the standards as outlined by the Principal Highway
Development Management Engineer.
The Chair asked how the passing places would look in terms of construction.
The Principal Highway Development Management Engineer explained that
the passing places would be constructed with a surface of tarmac, a base
course and a subgrade, that being full road construction makeup and would
widen those sections of the lane out to 5.5 metres, with one and three tapers
at each end. He added there would be signs indicating “passing place”, the
overall widths would be to highway standards and they would also be
positively drained. He added that the passing places would improve safe
two-way traffic flow along the road which only had light traffic movements of
just over 100 vehicles.
The Chair asked if it would only be the two new passing places or whether all
would be upgraded. The Principal Highway Development Management
Engineer noted that all seven would be upgraded to that standard, 18 metres
in length, to allow for a tractor and trailer to pass each other.
The Chair noted the motion for refusal that had been put by Councillor J
Robinson, seconded by Councillor A Laing and asked the Solicitor –
Planning and Development to take the vote.
The Solicitor – Planning and Development asked if Councillor P Taylor could
clarify if he felt he now had sufficient information to come to a view on the
application. Councillor P Taylor noted he did, with the additional information
provided by Officers, noting that it just remained now the significant change
to the lives and amenity and history of the village.
Upon a vote being taken it was:
RESOLVED
That the application be REFUSED for the following reasons:

Page 42

1. The development would result in an increase in vehicular traffic on the
surrounding road network which could not be safely accommodated and
would therefore have a significant adverse impact upon highway safety
both for vehicular users and pedestrians contrary to the aims of policy 21
of the County Durham Plan and paragraph 108 of the NPPF.
2. By reason of its scale, size and massing the development would result in
harm to the significance of Old Cassop Conservation Area that would not
be outweighed by public benefits contrary to the aims of policy 44 of the
County Durham Plan and paragraph 196 of the NPPF. Consequently, the
development is also considered to be contrary to the aims of Section 72 of
the Town and Country Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990 in that it fails to preserve the Character and Appearance of Old
Cassop Conservation Area.

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5a

5.
Planning Services

COMMITTEE REPORT
APPLICATION DETAILS
APPLICATION NO:
FULL APPLICATION
DESCRIPTION:

NAME OF APPLICANT:
ADDRESS:

ELECTORAL DIVISION:
CASE OFFICER:

DM/20/01685/VOC
Variation of condition 2 of planning approval
DM/16/03207/FPA to allow a change of materials
from render to stone with glazed section above
entrance doors and increase of roof line by 300mm.
Mr Richard Scorer
Glenmoor Farm
High Street
Low Pittington
Durham
DH6 1BE
Sherburn
Lisa Morina
Planning Officer
Telephone: 03000 264877
Lisa.morina@durham.gov.uk

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSALS
The Site
1. This site lies directly adjacent to, but outside the settlement boundary of Low
Pittington, it is not within a conservation area or the greenbelt. It is located on
Glenmoor Farm and was previously occupied by agricultural buildings constructed of
brick and metal sheet roofs which housed poultry.
2. To the south of the site is The Farmhouse and The Byre of Glenmoor Farm, both of
which are now residential dwellings. These dwellings are not owned or controlled by
the applicant. The site extends to the East and occupies land behind two further
dwellings on High Street; Eboracum and Stengarth, the residential curtilage of No.12
High Street creates the East boundary of the proposed site, the buildings and
boundary at The Garth creates the West boundary of the proposed site whilst to the
north is open countryside.
3. Consent was previously approved under planning application DM/16/03207/FPA for
the erection of two dormer bungalows with attached double garages and associated
landscaping.
4. Since the first approval of this scheme a further conversion has been approved
between The Garth and the development site for a further dwelling.

Page 45

Proposal:
5. Consent is sought to vary the above 2016 condition for the two dwellings. It is
proposed to increase the height of the building by 300mm and to change some
material details, the application also regularises some issue relating to levels across
the site.
6. The application is referred to the Committee at the request of Cllr Bill Kellet in respect
of impact on residential amenity.

PLANNING HISTORY
7. There are various applications within the application site or adjacent to the site these
include:
8. DM/16/03207/FPA - Proposed 2no. dormer bungalows with attached double garages
and associated landscaping. Approved 10/4/2017.
9. 4/97/00023/OUT - Erection of one dwelling (Outline) Withdrawn 3/3/1997
10. 4/97/00525/OUT - Erection of dwellinghouse (Outline). Refused 15/10/1997.
11. 4/07/00718/OUT - Outline application for the erection of a dwellinghouse and
detached garage. Refused 5/9/2007
12. 4/09/00256/FPA - Erection of 1 no. two storey dwelling. Approved 26/5/2009.
13. 4/12/00543/FPA - Extension of time limit application for 4/09/00256/FPA for 1 no. two
storey dwelling. Approved 17/7/2012.

PLANNING POLICY
NATIONAL POLICY
14. The following elements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) are
considered relevant to this proposal:
15. NPPF Part 5 Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes - To support the Government's
objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient
amount and variety of land can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of
groups with specific housing requirements are addressed and that land with
permission is developed without unnecessary delay.
16. NPPF Part 11 Making Effective Use of Land - Planning policies and decisions should
promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while
safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living
conditions. Strategic policies should set out a clear strategy for accommodating
objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes as much use as possible of
previously-developed or 'brownfield' land.
17. NPPF Part 12 Achieving Well-Designed Places - The Government attaches great
importance to the design of the built environment, with good design a key aspect of
sustainable development, indivisible from good planning.
Page 46

18. NPPF Part 15 Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment - Conserving and
enhancing the natural environment. The Planning System should contribute to and
enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued
landscapes, geological conservation interests, recognising the wider benefits of
ecosystems, minimising the impacts on biodiversity, preventing both new and existing
development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from pollution and
land stability and remediating contaminated or other degraded land where
appropriate.
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework

NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE:
19. The Government has consolidated a number of planning practice guidance notes,
circulars and other guidance documents into a single Planning Practice Guidance
Suite. This document provides planning guidance on a wide range of matters.
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance

LOCAL PLAN POLICY:
County Durham Plan
20. Policy 6 (Development on Unallocated Sites) states the development on sites not
allocated in the Plan or Neighbourhood Plan, but which are either within the built-up
area or outside the built up area but well related to a settlement will be permitted
provided it: is compatible with use on adjacent land; does not result in coalescence
with neighbouring settlements; does not result in loss of land of recreational,
ecological, or heritage value; is appropriate in scale, design etc to character of
settlement; it is not prejudicial to highway safety; provides access to sustainable
modes of transport; retains the settlement’s valued facilities; considers climate
change implications; makes use of previously developed land and reflects priorities
for urban regeneration.
21. Policy 10 (Development in the Countryside) will not be permitted unless allowed for
by specific policies in the Plan or Neighbourhood Plan or unless it relates to
exceptions
for
development
necessary
to
support economic
development, infrastructure development or development of existing buildings. The
policy further sets out 9 General Design Principles for all development in the
Countryside.
Provision for economic development includes: agricultural or rural land based
enterprise; undertaking of non-commercial agricultural activity adjacent to applicant’s
residential curtilage. All development to be of design and scale suitable for intended
use and well related to existing development.
Provision for infrastructure development includes; essential infrastructure, provision
or enhancement of community facilities or other countryside based recreation or
leisure activity.
Provision for development of existing buildings include change of use
of existing building, intensification of existing use through subdivision; replacement of
existing dwelling; or householder related development.

Page 47

22. Policy 21 (Delivering Sustainable Transport) requires all development to deliver
sustainable transport by: delivering, accommodating and facilitating investment in
sustainable modes of transport; providing appropriate, well designed, permeable and
direct routes for all modes of transport; ensuring that any vehicular traffic generated
by new development can be safely accommodated; creating new or improvements to
existing routes and assessing potential increase in risk resulting from new
development in vicinity of level crossings. Development to have regard to Parking and
Accessibility Supplementary Planning Document.
23. Policy 29 - Sustainable Design requires all development proposals to achieve well
designed buildings and places having regard to SPD and sets out 18 elements for
development to be considered acceptable, including: positive contribution to areas
character, identity etc.;
24. Policy 31 - Amenity and Pollution sets out that development will be permitted where it
can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable impact, either individually or
cumulatively, on health, living or working conditions or the natural environment and
that can be integrated effectively with any existing business and community facilities.
Development will not be permitted where inappropriate odours, noise, vibration and
other sources of pollution cannot be suitably mitigated against, as well as where light
pollution is not suitably minimised. Permission will not be granted for locating of
sensitive land uses near to potentially polluting development. Similarly, potentially
polluting development will not be permitted near sensitive uses unless the effects can
be mitigated.
The above represents a summary of those policies considered most relevant in the Development Plan
the
full
text,
criteria,
and
justifications
of
each
may
be
accessed
at
http://www.cartoplus.co.uk/durham/text/00cont.htm

CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES
STATUTORY RESPONSES:
25. Highways – No objection
26. Northumbrian Water – No comments to make
27. Coal Authority – No objection
INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES:
28. Ecology – No objection
29. Trees - Foundation depths must comply with NHBC guidelines chapter 4.2 building
near trees.
30. Archaeology – No objection
31. Landscape – No objection
32. Contaminated Land – No objection

Page 48

PUBLIC RESPONSES:
33. The application has been advertised by means of site notice, press notice and by
notifying neighbouring residents by letter. To date, 18 letters (multiple from same
dwellings due to re-consultation) have been received with the following comments:

























The work already been carried out looks likely to exceed the height permitted
under the original planning application.
It appears that the dwellings will be significantly more intrusive for
neighbouring properties than was foreseen.
Are the original planning applications being adhered to
The original proposal should be carried out in accordance with the approved
plans it appears that its not due to change in land levels and the buildings
appear larger than they should be and are not of a similar footprint with the
original being single-storey
A site visit should be carried out.
Changes are required to reduce the overall impact.
Further information in respect of levels should be provided.
Hopefully following a review based upon accepted planning ethics, ethos and
legal practices an amicable outcome can be arrived at as opposed to a
compromised position which could well lead to delays, or ultimately even
appeal procedures.
The additional increase is hard to visualise by which we might then be
overlooked.
Devaluation of properties
Further loss of privacy due to the increased height
The change of materials to all stone will certainly create a visual impact for the
dwellings when viewed from both the street the village green and from
Moorsley Bank Road.
The impact from the preparation of all of the stone for two dwellings will create
both a noise and dust nuisance as this is a residential area not an industrial or
commercial site.
The positioning of the applicants machinery and its inconsiderate use has
created both a noise and dust nuisance that a residential area should not
need to endure
Confirmation that the site in question is to be solely used as residential and is
in no way related to the applicants commercial business.
Concern over the additional work which has been carried out and that it does
not relate to the original approval and has verbal approval already been given.
Concern over separation distances between the proposal and an extant
consent, (see case 4/98/00233/FPA) and the impact on this consent.
Condition 2 of DCC approval has been breached and therefore the approval is
at best invalidated.
It is understood that only the elements to be varied under the current
application can be objected to however it is considered that the current
development is not in accordance with the approved plans and therefore it is
recommended that a full new application is requested from the applicants and
considered afresh.
Clarification is required over how the roof height will be achieved.
There has been no apparent planning justification for the increase in roof
height submitted, the applicants height is not a legitimate planning
consideration and as the applicant can only be living in one of the properties
there is no justification for the increase in roof height on both dwellings.
People of a similar height have no problem with ordinary houses.
Page 49
























Page 50

The proposed changes bring into question the misleading and inaccurate
report that Mr Gavillett made relative to the original application
Paragraph 8 of an appeal decision is relevant to this but was never mentioned
in the original application.
Access to these properties are via a privately owned side road. The road is
only suitable for access to a maximum of 5 properties. It has come to light that
this cannot be achieved as 6 properties are either in existence or have
planning permission in force (Farmhouse, Byre, stables, extant permission for
a unit on the site of the Byre and the two 'bungalows)
The site has a planning history of refused and appealed schemes dating back
to at least the mid 1990’s.
The 2016 application was approved contrary to the long established planning
position, contrary to the prevailing planning policy and contrary to past history
of the site.
The increase in height on the grounds of the impact of the proposed buildings
in views from the northwest and the increased presence of the new buildings
in views, contrary to the aims of the approved scheme which kept the
buildings subservient to their surroundings. The presence of Juliette
balconies on the north elevation brings a prominent, dominant and nontraditional alien element into these elevations and further increases their
prominence in wider views across the open countryside.
The change in materials on the grounds of increasing the visual presence of
the buildings and challenging the subservience of their character with relation
to the primary frontage buildings at The Byre and The Farmhouse, Glenmoor
Farm contrary to the original approval which specifically stated the new
buildings would be subservient in their setting.
The change in materials will increase the visual presence of the buildings in
the wider landscapes in particular in views from the open land to the
northwest.
Photos seem to indicate that already the residents in Glenmoor Farm will be
overlooked.
Concern regarding the installation of obscure glazing, the level of it and also
whether it will remain.
Not only do we feel that the 2016 application was decided with a misleading
report to members which failed to mention the sites previous history of
refusals at both officer and appeal level, inadequate plans and incorrect
information, we now have a contradiction and omission of information relevant
to the current application.
Lack of landscaping information.
No information is provided on the impact of surface run off or measures to
contain or manage surface water within this steeply sloping site adjoining an
open watercourse. It is unclear whether the development accords with the
requirements of the Environment Agency regarding open water courses and
drainage of run off to avoid flooding
Continue to object as per previous comments
The latest 3 document amount to an admission and acknowledgement by the
applicants that there are issues relating to the land levels
The original planning application granted in 2016 contains so many flaws,
inadequacies and omissions particularly in relation to land levels that in my
opinion any issues cannot be properly dealt with by a mere variation.
The original variation (submitted in June) application referred only to the
change in materials and additional increase in height. The variation has now
been CHANGED to include a change in land levels. This is considered, an
attempt to brush over an issue that is significant and will have a major impact
on the amenities of myself and my neighbours






In addition, the original variation application only referred to 1 property (which
I was led to believe related to the one on the western side). It is unclear to me
now from the drawings submitted whether application is now being made in
relation to the 2 properties. Again this is a substantial and material change if it
is both properties.
The original planning approval clearly envisaged 2 properties which were low,
subservient and dormer bungalows.
The properties now being built fly in the face of that decision, they are bigger
than normal houses, and are definitely not low or subservient if allowed to
continue. Durham County Council do have a duty of care to its stakeholders
and I would request that the committee carry out a site visit so that they can
see for themselves.

APPLICANT’S STATEMENT:

34. The principal of residential new build has already been accepted through the granting
of the 2016 permission, which has been lawfully implemented following the discharge
of conditions and remains extant. The local planning authority should therefore
restrict the consideration of this application to the proposed changes before them.
Both the changes to materials and the increase of the roof line will have no impact on
the privacy or amenity of the neighbouring residents. The change to stone will make
the dwelling more attractive and the increased roof height will improve internal
proportions and create a better standard of amenity for future residents.
35. The 2016 permission did not consider that there were issues with the site levels and
no condition relating to finished floor levels or site levels were attached to the
permission. However, cut and fill has been required to provide a level development
platform across the site. There is a c.2.5m reduction in site level across the site,
ensuring that the proposed dormer bungalows are appropriately sited.
36. The separation distances remain as approved. It has been demonstrated through
submitted plans that the proposed dwellings will retain a suitable level of amenity for
existing residents. In relation to extant consent (Ref. 4/98/00233/FPA) for an
additional dwelling located to the rear of The Byre, to ensure that a suitable level of
amenity will be maintained for future residents, amended plans have been submitted
proposing that obscure glazing is installed. The use of obscure glazing to allow a
relaxation of separation distances is acceptable in accordance with the guidance set
out at paragraph 3.5 of the recently adopted Residential Amenity Standards SPD
(2020).
37. The proposed changes are acceptable in planning terms and the application has
considered the concerns raised by both neighbouring residents and the local planning
authority and has been amended accordingly. The amended plans, along with the
ability of the local planning authority to attached additional conditions relating to both
the finished floor levels and site levels and the installation of obscure glazing,
represents an improvement compared to extant 2016 permission, as well as
according with both national and local policy.”
The above is not intended to list every point made and represents a summary of the comments received on this
application. The full written text is available for inspection on the application file which can be viewed at
https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/onlineapplications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P8X9C0GDL8J00

Page 51

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSESSMENT
38. Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) applies to the
determination of applications to develop land without the compliance with conditions
previously attached. S73 states that on such an application the Local Planning
Authority (LPA) shall consider only the question of the conditions subject to which
planning permission should be granted. The LPA should decide whether planning
permission should be granted subject to conditions differing from those subjects to
which the previous permission was granted or that it should be granted
unconditionally. If the LPA decide that planning permission should be granted subject
to the same conditions as those subject to which the previous permission was
granted, they should refuse the application.
39. In considering such an application, the Development Plan and any other material
considerations under section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act,
are relevant in the determination. LPAs should, in making their decisions, focus their
attention on national and development plan policies, and other material
considerations which may have changed significantly since the original grant of
permission.
40. As the development plan has now changed, the proposal needs to be considered with
regard to the principle of the development, impact on the visual amenity of the area,
residential amenity issues as well as any other issues.
Preliminary matters
41. There is previous planning history on this site which includes 97/00023/OUT for the
erection of a dwelling located between the original sheds and also the properties on
the main road with the access road running along the front of the sheds. This was
refused and dismissed on appeal for backland development.
42. Also, 07/00718/OUT for the erection of a dwelling in front of The Garth on the access
road. This application was refused due to being on undeveloped land and also due to
the position of the proposal. This has subsequently been approved in 2009 however
has not been implemented, although the permission is still extant.
43. As stated above, in 2016 consent was approved for the erection of two detached
dormer bungalows to which this application proposes amendments .
44. The site is located outside of the settlement boundary as detailed within The City of
Durham Local Plan 2004. It Is considered by objectors that the 2016 application was
approved contrary to the long established planning position, contrary to the prevailing
planning policy and contrary to past history of the site and that the Committee Report
provided to inform councillors of relevant factors omits all mention of the planning
history of the site, a critical and very relevant consideration when assessing the
suitability of the site for a development which had been previously been refused on
several occasions and has gone against how others have been determined in the
village in similar circumstances.
45. Concern has also been considered re the content of the previous report and that the
previous consent is flawed due to the proposal not considering land levels and also
mentioning incorrect planning policies and that the variation of this should not be
considered. In addition, comments from previous appeal statements have not been
considered that previous proposals would have harmed the settlement.
Page 52

46. Looking at the previous case file, the application was dealt with under delegated
powers and was not presented to committee. In addition to this, the 2016 proposal
was assessed under paragraph 11 of the NPPF due to previous planning policies
being considered out of date and as a result less weight was afforded to the policies
in the City of Durham Local Plan. Officers do not consider that the grant of the 2016
permission was erroneous and in any event, this decision has not been subject to any
legal challenge. It must therefore be approached on the basis that it was validly
granted. Whilst previous appeals and applications would need to be considered,
ultimately applications would be considered on their own individual merits.
47. As stated above, concerns have been raised that the original consent should not
have been approved due to previous refusals on the site and also that the proposal
was not in accordance with relevant planning policies due to its position outside of the
settlement of Low Pittington, that the properties are not subservient and low level as
previously considered and also that a variation of condition application should not be
accepted give the nature of the changes.
48. As stated above, section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows
applications to be made for permission to develop without complying with a condition
previously imposed on a planning permission and the local planning authority can
grant such permission unconditionally or subject to different conditions.
49. Furthermore, Section 73A of the Act provides, amongst other things, for retrospective
planning applications to be made in respect of development which has been carried
out without permission, and for applications for planning permission to authorise
development which has been carried out without complying with some planning
conditions to which it was subject.
50. There are considered to be no significant fundamental changes in respect of the
proposed access point and layout of the bungalows and the description is the same.
Given this it is considered that a variation of condition application is the most
appropriate way to deal with this as detailed by The Court of Appeal in the recent
case of Finney v Welsh Ministers & Ors [2019].
51. There is no statutory definition of a ‘minor material amendment’ but it includes any
amendment where its scale and/or nature results in a development which is not
substantially different from the one which has been approved.
52. Officers are therefore of the view that the application is within the scope of Section 73
and that the changes proposed which include the change in materials, the height of
the proposals and regularisation of land levels can be considered under this
application. A section 73 application also gives the LPA the right to add additional
conditions which may be necessary to ensure an appropriate development is
achieved.
Principle of the Development
53. Although the principle of the development has previously been agreed through the
2016 permission for the site, as there has been a change in policy since that
permission was granted, it is relevant to assess the proposal against the new local
plan policies of the County Durham Plan.
54. The County Durham Plan was recently adopted at full council on the 21st October
2020 therefore, the City of Durham Local Plan is no longer relevant.
Page 53

55. The site is considered to be within the open countryside given its position adjacent to
but outside of the old settlement boundary of Low Pittington within the old City of
Durham Local Plan. Whilst there are no defined settlements within the new County
Durham Plan, it is considered that the proposal is located outside of a settlement
therefore, policy 10 of the Local Plan would be relevant in addition, policy 6 is also
relevant given it relates to residential development on unallocated sites and this site
is not allocated for housing.
56. Policy 10 states that development in the countryside will not be permitted unless
allowed for by specific policies in the Plan, policy 6 being one of these which states
that development on sites not allocated in the Plan or Neighbourhood Plan, but which
are either within the built-up area or outside the built up area but well related to a
settlement will be permitted provided it is compatible with use on adjacent land; does
not result in coalescence with neighbouring settlements; does not result in loss of
land of recreational, ecological, or heritage value; is appropriate in scale, design etc
to character of settlement; it is not prejudicial to highway safety; provides access to
sustainable modes of transport; retains the settlement’s valued facilities; considers
climate change implications; makes use of previously developed land and reflects
priorities for urban regeneration.
57. As stated above, the proposal sits outside but adjacent to the settlement of Low
Pittington. Given the position of the site, it does not extend beyond the existing
building line of the settlement further into the countryside and also replaces existing
structures which have previously been on the site. It is also considered that the
principle of development on the site has already been established in the implemented
planning permission which represents a significant fallback position. Give this, the
principle of the development of housing on the site would be considered acceptable
subject to appropriate consideration of other issues in accordance with policies 6 and
10 of the Local Plan.
Visual impact on the amenity of the area
58. The overall design and siting of the dwellings have previously been approved and this
variation proposes changes to the materials and also the increase in the height of the
proposal by 300mm as well as clarifying and regularising the levels and groundworks
across the site.
59. Objections have been raised in respect of the materials that they would not result in
an appropriate form of development within the area impacting on the open
countryside and that the increase in the height would have an unacceptable impact
given the proposed changes are clearly at complete odds with the original approval
which gave consent specifically for a low set building of similar scale and mass to the
chicken sheds and of an appearance subservient to the main frontage buildings i.e.
Glenmoor Farm. In addition that land levels have been significantly changed to
accommodate the proposal.
60. In addition to policy 6 which talks about proposals providing an acceptable impact
within the area, policy 29 of the Local Plan also states that development should
contribute positively to an area’s character, identity, heritage significance, townscape
and landscape features. This is in accordance with the NPPF as it too seeks to
secure a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and
buildings.

Page 54

61. The area is characterised by a variety of properties within the area being a mix of
both single and two-storey dwellings. The overall design approach of the
development remains the same as that already approved with a substantially storey
and a half dwelling, the upper floor accommodation being within the roof. The
amendment now sought increases the overall height of the dwellings by 300mm with
a near identical design approach over a storey and a half. It is considered therefore,
that the visual amenity of the area would not be adversely affected with the addition
of the 300mm increase in the height of the dwellings which is expected to have a
minimal impact on the wider character of the area.
62. Whilst objections state that the original planning approval clearly envisaged 2
properties which were low, subservient and dormer bungalows however, consider
that they are bigger than normal houses, and are definitely not low or subservient, it
should be noted that the changers to the overall scale of the proposal as stated
above, involve a 300mm increase in height only from the original approved plans.
63. In addition, although the proposal would be viewed from the open countryside behind,
it is not considered that the increase in height or the change in materials which
includes the use of stone as opposed to render would have a significant detrimental
impact on the open countryside/viewed from it.
64. Issues with respect to land levels have also been raised and the previous consent did
not take account of this. A land level plan has been provided which shows that cut
and fill has been required to provide a level development platform across the site.
Between the eastern and western part of the site there is a 2.5m difference in levels
across the site with Plot 1 being dropped down as shown on the submitted site
section plan which shows the overall height of Plot 1 being almost in line with the
garage height of Plot 2.
65. Both plots have been cut into the site at the eastern end and the western end of the
plot is therefore filled, to create a level development platform for each plot.
66. The reduction across the site is made up of cutting both plots into the site at their
eastern ends and introducing a step between the FFL of the main house and the
garage.
67. The applicants have also confirmed that the stone wall has been started from
foundation level to keep the height lower with an approx.0.66m to finished floor level.
68. It is considered that the proposed finished levels would be appropriate and not result
in a significant detrimental impact on the host dwellings or the nearby dwellings or
the area generally.
69. Concern was also raised regarding the plans not being clear enough to establish
where the height increase is coming from and clarification was required for this.
70. The height increase is taken from the walls with the amount of brick work between the
eaves height and the window being increased. The height increase is to allow the
internal ceiling height of the first floor to be raised. This will increase the amount of
useable floorspace within the first floor rooms. The maximum ceiling height at the
first floor is 2300mm. The higher roof increases the amount of max ceiling height by:
Front – 362mm
Back – 362mm
Total – 720mm
Page 55

71. It is considered that this is entirely reasonable and encouraged by national guidance
as the National Described Space Standards states that the minimum floor to ceiling
height should be 2.3m for at least 75% of the Gross Internal Area
72. In respect of the materials, again there are a mix of materials used within the area
and it is considered that the change in materials proposed from render to stone is
appropriate and would not result in a detrimental impact on the amenity of the area
and would result in a material which is considered to have a greater longevity and be
more sustainable and therefore, is considered to be an improvement to the render
which was previously approved.
73. The proposal therefore, is considered acceptable in respect of the impact on the
visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies 6 and 29 of the local plan.
Residential Amenity
74. Concerns have been raised that the proposal given the change in land levels would
result in a significant detrimental impact on the surrounding residents through
providing overlooking issues. Concern has also been raised that an extant consent at
The Byre has not been taken into consideration when assessing the impact on
residential amenity issues. Concern is also raised regarding noise and disturbance
issues during the construction of the dwellings in respect of material preparation and
general disturbance and that the site may be used for a commercial nature.
Concerns have been raised that a dead wall has been constructed to the eastern end
of the site which significantly raises the height of the proposal and that building work
has commenced on a large structure adjacent to Plot 2.
75. Original land levels are difficult to establish given that the development is well under
construction and such information was not provided as part of the 2016 permission,.
Specifically, the 2016 application did not include a condition relating to finished floor
levels or site levels and no issue was raised as part of the application however, given
the uneven nature of the site it would seem logical that some work would have been
required to undertake the development and subsequently cut and fill has been
required to provide a level site. However, it is now for the Council to consider if the
current land levels are acceptable in respect of the impact on the amenity of the
residents. This is considered below.
76. The applicant has confirmed that the eastern end of the site the dwelling is 1.3m
below original ground level. The western dwelling (dwelling no. 1) is also stepped
down by 0.95m. In addition, the garages on the western end of each dwelling have
been stepped down by 0.33m and 0.14m (total 0.47m).
77. Policy 31 of the local plan relates to amenity and pollution issues and states that
proposal which will have an unacceptable impact such as through overlooking, visual
intrusion, visual dominance or loss of light, noise or privacy will not be permitted
unless satisfactory mitigation measures can be demonstrated whilst ensuring that any
existing business and/or community facilities do not have any unreasonable
restrictions placed upon them as a result.
78. In addition development which has the potential to lead to, or be affected by,
unacceptable levels of air quality, inappropriate odours, noise and vibration or other
sources of pollution, either individually or cumulatively, will not be permitted including
where any identified mitigation cannot reduce the impact on the environment, amenity
of people or human health to an acceptable level.
Page 56

79. The policy is in accordance with the NPPF as it too seeks to secure a good standard
of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.
80. Whilst it is acknowledged that there may be some noise implications arising from the
development during the construction period, it is not considered that this is an
appropriate reason to refuse this application. A certain amount of noise disturbance
would be inevitable from any construction project and would not be considered
unreasonable. Environmental Health do have separate powers in respect of noise
and disturbance which can be considered. In addition, it is not felt that the
development of two dwellings would result in noise issues being created that could
not be adequately controlled though a construction management plan condition and it
is important to note than no such requirement was imposed on the 2016 permission.
81. In relation to business use on the site, the proposal is not being considered as a
commercial proposal and is purely for residential development. However, it must be
noted that a certain degree of business use can be carried out at a residential
property without planning approval depending upon fact and degree however this is
not being considered at present as part of this application. Should any commercial
use be forthcoming in the future, this would need to be carefully assessed and a
further application may need to be considered at that time, depending on the
circumstances. In respect of the building of a further structure, a site visit has found
that no work is currently being carried out on the site other than the two dwellings.
82. Turning to the impact on the amenity of residents in respect of overlooking issues.
The Councils Residential Amenity Standards Supplementary Planning Document
2020 states all new development, including new dwellings, will have some bearing on
neighbouring properties and it is important to ensure that the impact does not result in
a significant loss of privacy, outlook or light for occupiers of new dwellings and
existing dwellings. The design and layout of new development should ensure that
reasonable privacy and light is provided for surrounding residents and occupiers,
particularly in relation to residential use and enjoyment of dwellings and private
gardens.
83. It goes on to state that in order to achieve these objectives, the following minimum
standards will be applied to new residential developments:
84. Main facing elevation to main facing elevation containing window/s serving a
habitable room - 21 metres between two storey buildings and 18 metres between
bungalows.
85. Main facing elevation to gable wall which does not contain a window serving a
habitable room- 13 metres to two storey gable and 10 metres to single storey gable.
86. It also states that where there is a significant change in levels, the minimum
separation distance will increase by 1 metre for every 1 metre that the floor level of
the development would be above the affected floor or ground level of the
neighbouring property.
87. However, it does go on to state that it is not intended to apply the standards rigidly.
For example, distances may be relaxed where the impacts on privacy can be
reduced. This may occasionally be achieved, using obscure glazing, boundary
treatments, restricted openings and directional windows for example.

Page 57

88. Turning to the properties which surround the development site. The dwellings are
located approximately 10m from the boundary wall between the properties The Byre
and The Farmhouse rear gardens. Given this, separation distances of well in excess
of 21m remain between the two-storey facing elevation of the properties and that of
those properties as well as the properties Eboracum and Stengarth all of which are
located on the main street. This also gives additional distance in respect of changes
in land levels.
89. In respect of the conversion of the property to the west, separation distances of
between 19m will remain between the front of this extension to the single-storey
garage element and 27m to the two storey element of the proposed dwelling. Again
this is well in excess of the separation distances which are required again
incorporating land level changes.
90. In respect of the 1998 permission for an additional dwelling, limited plans are
available to the Council in respect of this application however the plans available
show that this extant consent essentially is affixed to the rear of the property known
as The Byre and extends as far as the boundary wall. It has been established that
the consent from 1998 has been implemented due to the other elements of the
scheme being carried out and therefore remains extant which means that the impact
upon this as yet unbuilt dwelling must be considered in the context of this application.
91. Approximately 25m remain between the rear elevation of The Byre and the front
elevation of the proposed dwelling (plot 1) which sits behind this property. The extant
plans show that the proposed dwelling attached to the Byre will extend the full depth
of the elevation resulting in the two-storey extension sitting on the rear wall which
separates The Byre from the development site. This would leave separation
distances of around 9.7m between the front elevation of Plot 1 and the additional
dwelling permitted by the 1998 extant consent. A window is contained in this
elevation which would serve a habitable room. Separation distances would therefore,
be substantially less than the 21m recommended distances.
92. Whilst this would be significantly below standard, members should be aware that a
fallback position does exist in respect of the 2016 application. Whilst the 2016 report
states the relationship between the proposal and the extant consent is acceptable,
further consideration of this as part of the current application has established that
separation distances are lacking.
93. The applicants have attempted to improve the situation by adding obscure glazing to
the window in Plot 1 which would be in close proximity to this extant consent which
would result in an elevation with no overlooking implications from the affected
habitable room and would be more akin to a blank gable arrangement which has a
required separation of 13m. Whilst this relationship still does not meet the standard
of 13m, it is considered that this is an improvement on the current fallback position
which has no such restriction. On this basis it would be unreasonable to seek to
refuse the application on this issue now.
94. Concern has been raised that the glazing could be removed at any time and no
details of the glazing has been provided however, a condition can be added in this
respect to ensure the obscure glazing is retained in perpetuity and also that it must be
to a specific level which is at minimum level 3 of the Pilkington scale of privacy and
therefore, a further application would be required to remove this in future and it would
be for the applicants to provide sufficient justification for its removal.

Page 58

95. The proposal therefore, is considered acceptable in respect of policy 31 of the Local
Plan in respect of neighbouring properties and the NPPF.
Highway Issues:
96. Policy 21 of the CDP relate to providing sustainable transport in which the council is
committed to delivering a high quality integrated and sustainable transport network
which supports our aspirations for a strong economy, a vibrant tourism offer and
improved quality of life for all of our residents, including reducing air pollution and
emissions of CO2.
97. Objections have been raised that the proposal would result in 6 dwellings being
accessed from the road to the side of the Farmhouse which is unacceptable and that
the increase causes a safety concern for the neighbour at The Farmhouse.
98. Highway guidance usually states that no more than 5 new dwellings can be accessed
from an unadopted roadway and with the two existing dwellings, the extant consent,
the two proposed dwellings under this application and the conversion approved in
2019, this would result in 6.
99. The highways officer has stated that the design guide is primarily focussed on new
build development and one of these applications was a conversion. In addition it is
considered that this is not a standard highway but rather a Mews Court development
then it is acceptable to provide access for a higher number of units off a private
courtyard.
100. In respect of this application, the proposal does not alter/impact on existing highway
arrangements therefore, the proposal is considered acceptable from a highways
viewpoint.
Other Issues
101. Devaluation of properties is not a material planning consideration.
102. Concern was raised over the process of the previous consent and misleading
information and also in respect of this one however, the application has been
considered in accordance with all relevant planning policies and procedures and all
relevant information has been taken into account assessing the differences from the
fallback position.
103. Concern was raised over the ongoing work that was continuing and that verbal
agreements had been carried out. It is an applicant’s responsibility if they wish to
continue to build while an application is pending and any work would be carried out at
their own risk.
104. Concerns were raised that a site visit should be carried out. Officer site visits are
always carried out as part of a formal application and this was the case in this respect.
An initial site visit was carried out by an officer and then two additional visits have
been carried out with the case officer and Area Team Leader. Unfortunately at this
present time, committee site visits are not permitted however, Members are provided
with information in the Officer presentation to help them to consider the position on the
ground.

Page 59

105. Concern has been raised that the application originally included the height increase
and materials only and that after it was changed to include the land level changes and
that this is considered, an attempt to brush over an issue that is significant and will
have a major impact on the amenities of residents. In respect of applications,
changes can be made to an approval and in this instance, renotification has been
carried out in respect of the changes to allow comments to be received from
neighbouring properties. In addition, full consideration of these issues have been
considered above.
106. Concern has been raised that the original variation application only referred to 1
property (which I was led to believe related to the one on the western side) and it is
unclear now from the drawings submitted whether application is now being made in
relation to the 2 properties. Again this is a substantial and material change if it is both
properties. The original variation of condition made no reference to only one property
being changed.
107. As part of a variation of condition application, conditions from the previous
application are usually repeated but in this case the conditions have been amended to
reflect the discharge of condition application which has recently been approved. In
respect of contamination, a condition is no longer required as all criteria has been
met.

CONCLUSION
108. The impact upon the visual amenity of the area as well as the impact on residential
amenity and highway safety is considered to be acceptable. The proposed changes
are considered to be acceptable as a variation to the scheme.
109. The application is considered to meet the requirements of the National Planning
Policy Framework and Policies 6, 10, 21, of the County Durham Plan,
110. The objections and concerns raised have been taken into account and addressed
within the report. On balance the concerns raised were not felt to be of sufficient
weight to justify refusal of this application.

RECOMMENDATION
That the application be APPROVED, subject to the conditions detailed below:
1. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
approved plans listed in Part 3 - Approved Plans.
Reason: To define the consent and ensure that a satisfactory form of development is
obtained in accordance with Policies 6, 10, 29 and 31 of the County Durham Plan.
2. No construction work shall take place, nor any site cabins, materials or machinery be
brought on site until all trees and hedges, indicated on the approved tree protection
plan as to be retained, are protected by the erection of fencing, placed as indicated
on the plan and comprising a vertical and horizontal framework of scaffolding, well
braced to resist impacts, and supporting temporary welded mesh fencing panels or
similar approved in accordance with BS.5837:2005.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and to comply with policy
40 of the County Durham Plan.
Page 60

3. No development shall take place unless in accordance with the mitigation detailed
within Ecology Survey and Risk Assessment for the Development Site at Glenmoor
Farm Low Pittington by Veronica Howard received 30th November 2016 (Rev B).
Reason: In the interests of protected species and to comply with the National
Planning Policy Framework part 16 and policy 41 of the County Durham Plan.
4. The materials shall be carried out in strict accordance with those details approved
under DRC/20/00075.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and to comply with policy
29 of the County Durham Plan.
5. In undertaking the development that is hereby approved:
No external construction works, works of demolition, deliveries, external running of
plant and equipment shall take place other than between the hours of 0730 to 1800
on Monday to Friday and 0730 to 1400 on Saturday.
No internal works audible outside the site boundary shall take place on the site other
than between the hours of 0730 to 1800 on Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1700 on
Saturday.
No construction works or works of demolition whatsoever, including deliveries,
external running of plant and equipment, internal works whether audible or not
outside the site boundary, shall take place on Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays.
For the purposes of this condition, construction works are defined as: The carrying
out of any building, civil engineering or engineering construction work involving the
use of plant and machinery including hand tools.
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of existing and future residents from the
development in accordance with Policy 31 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of
the National Planning Policy Framework.
6. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended (or any Order revoking
and re-enacting that Order) the glass to be used in the window as shown in the
front elevation facing south towards The Byre shall be fixed and obscure to level 3
or higher of the Pilkington scale of privacy or equivalent as may be previously
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and such shall be maintained in
place in perpetuity.
Reason: In the interests of the privacy of the neighbouring occupier and to comply
with Policy 31 of the County Durham Plan.
7. Within 3 months of the date of this approval, a detailed landscaping and boundary
treatment scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Any submitted scheme must be shown to comply with legislation protecting nesting
birds and roosting bats.

Page 61

The landscape scheme shall include accurate plan based details of the following:
Trees, hedges and shrubs scheduled for retention.
Details of hard and soft landscaping including planting species, sizes, layout,
densities, numbers.
Details of planting procedures or specification.
Finished topsoil levels and depths.
Details of temporary topsoil and subsoil storage provision.
Seeded or turf areas, habitat creation areas and details etc. Details of land and
surface drainage.
The establishment maintenance regime, including watering, rabbit protection, tree
stakes, guards etc.
Any proposed boundary treatments
The Local Planning Authority shall be notified in advance of the start on site date and
the completion date of all external works.
Trees, hedges and shrubs shall not be removed without agreement within five years.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and to comply with Policy
29 of the County Durham Plan and Part 12 of the National Planning Policy
Framework
8. Within 8 weeks of the date of this permission a Construction Management Plan shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
Construction Management Plan shall include as a minimum but not necessarily be
restricted to the following:
A Dust Action Plan including measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during
construction.
Details of methods and means of noise reduction/suppression.
Where construction involves penetrative piling, details of methods for piling of
foundations including measures to suppress any associated noise and vibration.
Details of measures to prevent mud and other such material migrating onto the
highway from all vehicles entering and leaving the site.
Designation, layout and design of construction access and egress points.
Details for the provision of directional signage (on and off site).
Details of contractors' compounds, materials storage and other storage
arrangements, including cranes and plant, equipment and related temporary
infrastructure.
Details of provision for all site operatives for the loading and unloading of plant,
machinery and materials.
Details of provision for all site operatives, including visitors and construction vehicles
for parking and turning within the site during the construction period.
Routing agreements for construction traffic.
Page 62

Details of the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate.
Waste audit and scheme for waste minimisation and recycling/disposing of waste
resulting from demolition and construction works.
Management measures for the control of pest species as a result of demolition
and/or construction works.
Detail of measures for liaison with the local community and procedures to deal with
any complaints received.
The management strategy shall have regard to BS 5228 "Noise and Vibration
Control on Construction and Open Sites" during the planning and implementation of
site activities and operations.
The approved Construction Management Plan shall also be adhered to throughout
the construction period and the approved measures shall be retained for the duration
of the construction works.
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of existing and future residents from the
development in accordance with Policy 31 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of
the National Planning Policy Framework.

STATEMENT OF PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT
The Local Planning Authority in arriving at its decision to approve the application has,
without prejudice to a fair and objective assessment of the proposals, issues raised and
representations received, sought to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive
manner with the objective of delivering high quality sustainable development to improve the
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area in accordance with the NPPF.
(Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.)

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Submitted application form, plans, supporting documents and subsequent information
provided by the applicant
The National Planning Policy Framework (2018)
National Planning Practice Guidance Notes
County Durham Plan
Statutory, internal and public consultation responses

Page 63

Towards
Carville

Towards
Pittington

Planning Services

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with
the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of Her
majesty’s Stationary Office © Crown copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and
may lead to prosecution or civil proceeding.
Durham County Council Licence No. 100022202 2005

Page 64

Variation of condition 2 of planning approval
DM/16/03207/FPA to allow a change of materials
from render to stone with glazed section above
entrance doors, increase of roof line by 300mm
and change in land levels at Glenmoor Farm, High
Street, Low Pittington, Durham, DH6 1BE
Application Reference DM/20/01685/VOC

Date: December 2020

Scale NTS

Agenda Item 5b

Planning Services

COMMITTEE REPORT
APPLICATION DETAILS
APPLICATION NO:
FULL APPLICATION
DESCRIPTION:
NAME OF APPLICANT:
ADDRESS:

ELECTORAL DIVISION:
CASE OFFICER:

DM/20/01961/FPA
Extension and conversion of the multi-level decked
car park to form 3no. 2-bed apartments and 4no. 2bed townhouses (Resubmission).
Hilcrest NW Ltd
Kingfisher House
St John's Road
Meadowfield Industrial Estate
Durham
DH7 8TZ
Elvet and Gilesgate
Paul Hopper
Senior Planning Officer
Telephone: 03000 263 946
paul.hopper@durham.gov.uk

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSALS
The Site
1.

The application site comprises a two-storey building which previously provided
parking for an adjacent office complex and is situated to the rear of Claypath within
the commercial centre of Durham City. It is understood that the office building was
originally used as a printing works and more recently as office accommodation. The
building is now vacant, and that planning permission exists for the conversion of part
of the building to residential accommodation through permitted development rights
with the remainder of the building benefitting from full planning permission for
conversion to residential accommodation.

2.

The car park is framed by commercial properties to the north and west, by residential
properties to the east and Leazes Road to the south. Both the car park and office
building take a vehicular access from Claypath via a narrow vennel. The site also lies
within the Durham City Conservation Area and to the rear of listed buildings at
Claypath.

3.

Planning permission was refused in 2018 and 2019 for extension and conversion of
the car park to residential accommodation comprising 28 no 1-bed studio
apartments, and 4no. 1-bed apartments and 8no. 2-bed apartments respectively, as
in both cases it was considered that the proposal would have an unacceptable
adverse impact upon the amenity of adjacent residential occupiers and existing
trees. In relation to the 2018 application it was also considered that the development
failed to meet minimum internal space requirements. This application represents an
amendment to that scheme which now proposes 3 No. 2 Bedroom apartments and 4
No. town houses falling into Class C3 of the Use Class Order.
Page 65

The Proposal
4.

Planning permission is sought for alteration and amendment to the existing car park
and associated building in order to provide 4 No. 2 storey town houses and 3 No. 2
bedroom apartments.

5.

These would take the form of a short terrace of two storey town houses with a double
ridged, dual pitched roof arrangement to accommodate habitable living
accommodation in the roof void. This would be set alongside a two-storey section of
William Robson House which would also be subject to conversion to residential use
to create 2 No. 3 bed apartments. Overall, the resulting building would be 28 metres
long by 9.9 metres wide with a maximum height of 6.6 metres to the ridge of the dual
pitched roof.

6.

External materials are proposed as being brick to the walls and natural slate to the
roof with painted timber windows and doors and conservation style roof lights.

7.

The development proposes the use of the existing access arrangement from
Claypath via the current vennel.

8.

The application was referred to planning committee at the request of the City of
Durham Parish Council who raise concerns regarding its potential use a student
accommodation, the storage and removal of domestic refuse from the site,
insufficient car parking provision and disruption during the construction phase, which
they believe are such that the application should be considered by planning
committee.

PLANNING HISTORY
9.

The development site and the adjacent building at William Robson House have both
been subject to several previous planning applications that relate to conversion to
residential use.

10.

In the case of William Robson House planning permission was refused in June 2018
for the part conversion of the building to use as 16 No. 1 bed studio apartments due
to concerns that the units failed to provide sufficient internal space for residents. An
appeal against this decision was dismissed by the Planning Inspector. The building
currently benefits from permitted development rights for conversion to residential
accommodation in the form of 27 No. 1 bedroom studio apartments and 3 No. 2 bed
apartments and this was subsequently followed by a certificate of lawful development
application for that use which was granted in August 2018. Planning permission was
also granted in March 2019 for the conversion of the remaining part of the building to
create 7 No. 1 bed apartments.

11.

In relation to the car park which is the subject of this application, planning permission
was refused in June 2018 for conversion and extension in order to create 28 1 No. 1
bed apartments due to concerns regarding limited internal space, which failed to
meet nationally prescribed space standards, impact on existing trees and the
residential amenity of adjacent occupiers through overbearing and overshadowing.
An appeal against this decision was subsequently dismissed by the Planning
Inspector. This was followed by an application in December 2019 for conversion and
extension of the building to create 8 No. 2 bed apartments which was subsequently
withdrawn due to concerns regarding the impact of the development on residential
amenity of future occupiers and existing trees.

Page 66

PLANNING POLICY
NATIONAL POLICY
12.

The following elements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) are
considered relevant to this proposal:

13.

NPPF Part 2 - Achieving sustainable development. The purpose of the planning
system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and therefore
at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. It
defines the role of planning in achieving sustainable development under three
overarching objectives – economic, social and environmental, which are
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways. The application
of the presumption in favour of sustainable development for plan-making and
decision-taking is outlined.

14.

NPPF Part 4 - Decision-making. Local planning authorities should approach
decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way. They should use
the full range of planning tools available, including brownfield registers and
permission in principle, and work proactively with applicants to secure developments
that will improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.
Decision-makers at every level should seek to approve applications for sustainable
development where possible.

15.

NPPF Part 5 – Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes. The Government
advises Local Planning Authority’s to deliver a wide choice of high quality homes,
widen opportunities for home ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed
communities.

16.

NPPF Part 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy: The Government is
committed to ensuring the planning system does everything it can to support
sustainable economic growth. Planning should operate to encourage and not act as
an impediment to sustainable growth. Therefore, significant weight should be placed
on the need to support economic growth through the planning system.

17.

NPPF Part 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities. The planning system can
play an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive
communities. Developments should be safe and accessible; Local Planning
Authorities should plan positively for the provision and use of shared space and
community facilities. An integrated approach to considering the location of housing,
economic uses and services should be adopted.

18.

NPPF Part 9 – Promoting sustainable transport. Encouragement should be given to
solutions which support reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and reduce
congestion. Developments that generate significant movement should be located
where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport
modes maximised.

19.

NPPF Part 11 Making Effective Use of Land - Planning policies and decisions should
promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses,
while safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy
living conditions. Strategic policies should set out a clear strategy for accommodating
objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes as much use as possible of
previously-developed or 'brownfield' land.
Page 67

20.

NPPF Part 12 Achieving Well-Designed Places - The Government attaches great
importance to the design of the built environment, with good design a key aspect of
sustainable development, indivisible from good planning.

21.

NPPF Part 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal
change - The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in
a changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should
help to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas
emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of
existing resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure.

22.

NPPF Part 15 Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment - Conserving and
enhancing the natural environment. The Planning System should contribute to and
enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued
landscapes, geological conservation interests, recognising the wider benefits of
ecosystems, minimising the impacts on biodiversity, preventing both new and
existing development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from
pollution and land stability and remediating contaminated or other degraded land
where appropriate.

23.

NPPF Part 16 Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment - Heritage assets
range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of the highest
significance, such as World Heritage Sites which are internationally recognised to be
of Outstanding Universal Value. These assets are an irreplaceable resource, and
should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can
be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future
generations.
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework

NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE:
24. The Government has consolidated a number of planning practice guidance notes,
circulars and other guidance documents into a single Planning Practice Guidance
Suite. This document provides planning guidance on a wide range of matters. Of
particular relevance to this application is the practice guidance with regards to;
conserving and enhancing the historic environment; design; and use of planning
conditions.
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance

LOCAL PLAN POLICY:
The following policies of the County Durham Plan is considered relevant to the
determination of this planning application;
25. Policy 6 Development on unallocated Sites states that the development of sites within
the built up area that are not allocated in the plan or in a neighbourhood plan will be
permitted provided they accord with all relevant development plan policies and meet
specific criteria in relation to existing permitted uses, coalescence of settlements, loss
of land with identified value such as in relation to ecology or recreation, is appropriate,
is not prejudicial to highway safety, has good access to sustainable modes of
transport to relevant services and facilities, does not result in the loss of the
settlements last community building, minimises vulnerability and provides resilience to
impacts resulting from climate change, maximises the effective of previously
developed land and where appropriate reflects priorities for urban regeneration.
Page 68

26. Policy 15 Addressing Housing Need notes the need to increase the range and quality
of housing provision within the County and with regard to meeting the needs of older
people and people with disabilities states that 66% of dwellings on sites if 5 dwellings
or more must be built to Building Regulations M4(2) (accessible and adoptable
dwellings) standard.
27. Policy 21 Delivering Sustainable Transport states that all development shall deliver
sustainable transport by (in part) ensuring that any vehicular traffic generated by new
development, following the implementation of sustainable transport measures, can be
safely accommodated on the local and strategic highway network and does not cause
an unacceptable increase in congestions or air pollution and that severe congestion
can be overcome by appropriate transport improvements.
28. Policy 29 Sustainable Design details general design principles for all development
stating that new development should contribute positively to an areas’ character,
identity, heritage significance, townscape and landscape features, helping to create
and reinforce locally distinctive and sustainable communities.
29. Policy 31 Amenity and Pollution states that new development will be permitted where
it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable impact, either individually or
cumulatively, on health, living or working conditions or the natural environment and
should be integrated effectively with any existing business and community facilities.
30. Policy 32 - Despoiled, Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land states [in
part] that development will not be permitted unless the developer can demonstrate
that the site is suitable for the proposed use, and does not result in unacceptable risks
which would adversely impact on the environment, human health and the amenity of
local communities.
31. Policy 35 Water Management states that all new development should adopt the
hierarchy of preference in relation to surface water disposal.
32. Policy 36 Disposal of Foul Water states that all new development should adopt the
hierarchy of preference.
33. Policy 39 Landscape states that proposals for new development will be permitted
where they would not cause unacceptable harm to the character, quality or
distinctiveness of the landscape, or to important features or views and that
development affecting valued landscapes will only be permitted where it conserves,
and where appropriate enhances, the special qualities of the landscape, unless the
benefits of the development in that location clearly outweigh the harm.
34. Policy 40 Trees, Woodlands and Hedges states that proposals will be expected to
retain existing trees where they can make a positive contribution to the locality or to
the development, maintain adequate standoff distances between them and new landuses, including root protection areas where necessary, to avoid future conflicts, and
integrate them fully into the design having regard to their future management
requirements and growth potential.
35. Policy 41 Biodiversity and Geodiversity states that proposal for new development will
not be permitted if significant harm to biodiversity or geodiversity resulting from the
development cannot be avoided, or appropriately mitigated, or as a last resort,
compensated for.

Page 69

36. Policy 44 Historic Environment seeks to ensure that developments should contribute
positively to the built and historic environment and seek opportunities to enhance and,
where appropriate, better reveal the significance and understanding of heritage
assets.
37. Policy 45 Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site seeks to ensure that
developments within the world heritage site sustain and enhance the significance of
the designated asset, are based on an understanding of, and will protect and enhance
the outstanding universal value of the site in terms in relation to the immediate and
wider setting and important view into, and out of the site.
In line with Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), the
local planning authority must have regard to a post-examination draft neighbourhood
development plan, so far as material to the application, and, para 48 NPPF guidance (i.e.
where changes are required less weight to policies). In that regard the following policies of
the emerging City of Durham Parish Neighbourhood Plan are considered relevant;
38. Policy S1: Sustainable Development Requirements of all Development and
Redevelopment Sites Including all New Building, Renovations and Extensions seeks
to sets out the economic, social and environmental criteria that development
proposals will be required to meet
39. Policy H1: Protection of Durham World Heritage Site [WHS] requires new
development to sustain, conserve and enhance the by taking account of both the
historical and present uses of the WHS, proposing high quality design, using materials
appropriate to the vernacular and seeking balance in terms of scale , density,
massing, form, layout, landscaping and open spaces.
40. Policy H2: The Conservation Areas, aims to ensure that development proposals within
or affecting the Durham City or Burn Hall Conservation Area should sustain and
enhance the designated assets their special interest and significance of the
Conservation Area Appraisals.
41. Policy H4: Heritage Assets seeks to ensure that Development proposals affecting
heritage assets should demonstrate an understanding of the significance of the asset
and give details of how the development proposal will impact on the asset and, where
relevant, its setting.
42. Policy D6: Building Housing to the Highest Standards seeks to ensure that all new
housing, extensions and other alterations to existing housing must be of a high quality
design relating to the character and appearance of the local area, aesthetic qualities,
external and internal form and layout, functionality, adaptability, resilience and the
improvement of energy efficiency and the reduction of carbon dioxide emissions.
43. Houses and housing developments must meet the Building for Life Criteria by avoiding
any red traffic light scores and achieving as many green traffic light scores as
possible. Application for accreditation of sites is not required.
44. Policy T1: Sustainable Transport Accessibility and Design seeks to ensure that
development proposals will be required to demonstrate best practice in respect of
sustainable transport accessibility and design.
The above represents a summary of those policies considered most relevant in the Development Plan
the
full
text,
criteria,
and
justifications
of
each
may
be
accessed
at
http://www.cartoplus.co.uk/durham/text/00cont.htm

Page 70

CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES
STATUTORY RESPONSES:
45. The Highway Authority notes that there has been considerable discussion with the
applicant’s Transport Consultant regarding the safe future use of the access to William
Robson House from Claypath. During these discussions concern was expressed with
particular regard to the potential increase in vulnerable road user numbers and
possible conflict with vehicles entering a vennel onto Claypath which is only 2.6
metres wide and the potential conflict arising with pedestrians as a result.
46. However, the Highway Authority recognises that the use of the building as office
accommodation could be reintroduced and that this is a fallback position which could
see an intensification of use, over and above the level that the proposed residential
accommodation would generate. In doing so, it is conceded that if this fallback position
was reached, the access may become less safe than this change of use proposes.
47. In this context the Highway Authority does not consider that an objection on highway
safety grounds could be sustained and as such offers no objection to the application
subject to the inclusion of a planning condition requiring the submission, agreement
and implementation of a Construction Management Plan prior to the commencement
of development.
48. NWL has confirmed that they wish to offer no comments on the application other than
to note that surface water generated by the development should be managed in
accordance with the hierarchy of preference.
49. City of Durham Parish Council whilst welcoming C3 development within the Parish
that promotes ‘year long’ occupation, nevertheless consider the application site to be
one which is ideal for elderly people given its proximity to the city centre. The Parish
note that it’s neighbourhood plan for the area is due for referendum shortly and as
such those policies contained therein can be afforded significant weight in the
determination of planning applications. Notwithstanding their support for C3
developments the Parish Council objects to the application raising the following
concerns;
- The development does not appear to meet accessibility requirements.
- Concern the units will be occupied as student accommodation and as such advise
conditions restricting occupancy to prohibit occupation as C4 use or as PBSA.
- Arrangement for the collection of wheelie bins is inadequate and would have a
detrimental impact on Claypath.
- Concerns regarding the impact of the development upon highway safety at Lower
Claypath; and
- Concern over disruption during the construction phase should planning permission
be granted and as such advise the use of operational conditions to manage entry and
exit from the site during the construction phase.

Page 71

INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES:
50. Design and Conservation raises no objection to the application subject to planning
conditions which require the submission and agreement of precise detail in relation to
walling and roofing material, section details for windows and that roof lights be
conservation style.
51. DCC Landscape Section initially raised concerns regarding the long-term impact of the
development upon existing trees immediately adjacent to the site, principally through
pressure to remove or prune these to allow sufficient natural light to the development.
However, the applicant has amended the proposed design and introduced a dual
pitched double ridged roof arrangement to allow additional light into the first-floor rear
bedroom to which the Landscape Section offers no objection.
52. DCC Arborist initially raised similar concerns to that of the Landscape Section
although again these have been allayed through amendment to the scheme.
53. DCC Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (Nuisance Action Team) offers
no objection to the application subject to the inclusion of a planning condition which
requires the submission and agreement of a noise mitigation scheme to be submitted
to and agreed by the local planning authority, prior to the commencement of
development and that that the development be thereafter carried out in accordance
with the agreed details.
54. DCC Contaminated Land Section raises no objection to the application subject to the
inclusion of a planning condition which requires the submission, agreement and
implementation of a scheme of intrusive site investigations, remediation and
verification reports where need is identified.
55. DCC Ecology has no objections to the application subject to the mitigation proposed in
the supporting Preliminary Ecology Assessment being secured through planning
condition.
56. DCC Archaeology has no objections to the application.
PUBLIC RESPONSES:
57. The application has been advertised by means of site notice, press notice and
notification letter to adjacent residents. One letter of objection was originally received
on behalf of residents of Blue Coat Court to the east of the site which raised concerns
regarding the impact of the proposal upon residential amenity from overbearing and
overshadowing, and discrepancies within the application.
58. However, these objections have been withdrawn following amendment of the scheme
and the submission of additional section detail showing the relationship between the
proposed development and adjacent dwellings.
APPLICANT’S STATEMENT:
59. The applicant seeks full planning approval for the extension and conversion of the
multi-level decked car park and rear of William Robson House, Claypath, Durham,
DH1 1SA to form 4no. 2-bed townhouses and 3no. 2-bed apartments (C3 housing).
This application follows the withdrawal of application DM/19/03968/FPA for the
extension and conversion of the multi-level decked car park and rear of William
Robson House to form 8no. 2-bed apartments (C3 housing).
Page 72

60. William Robson House is a located within Moody’s Yard, accessed via an archway
between 83 and 84 Claypath, within the Durham (City Centre) Conservation Area.
61. Also within Moody’s Yard is the multi-level decked car park which was built in
1999/2000 to provide car parking for the offices created within William Robson House.
As the occupancy of the offices dwindled the car park fell into disuse and became a
focal point for vagrancy and anti-social behaviour. It is now unused and has been
secured by metal fencing.
62. There has been considerable recent planning history on the site as the applicant has
sought to redevelop William Robson House and the redundant car park and bring the
site back into active, sustainable and economically viable use.
63. This application has been considered in terms of the requirements of National and
Local Plan Policies and previous consultation responses. Careful consideration has
been given to the scale and massing of the proposed development, the impact upon
adjacent land users, residential amenity standards, design and appearance.
64. The applicant has worked closely with officers to seek a solution to the site and they
are confident that the proposals will enhance the character and appearance of the
surrounding Conservation Area.
The above is not intended to list every point made and represents a summary of the comments received on this
application. The full written text is available for inspection on the application file which can be viewed at
https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/onlineapplications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P8X9C0GDL8J00

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSESSMENT
65. Having regard to the requirements of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004, the relevant Development Plan policies, relevant guidance and all
other material planning considerations, including representations received, it is
considered that the main planning issues in this instance relate to the principle of the
development, residential amenity, the character and appearance of the Durham City
Conservation Area, World Heritage Site (WHS) and Grade II Listed Buildings, parking,
access and highway safety, ecology and land contamination.
Principle of the Development
66. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise with the NPPF representing a material planning consideration in this regard.
The County Durham Plan (CDP) was adopted in October 2020 and as such
represents the up to date local plan for the area and the starting point for the
determination of this planning application. Consequently, the application is to be
determined in accordance with relevant policies set out within the CDP. Paragraph
11c of the NPPF requires applications for development proposals that accord with an
up to date development plan to be approved without delay.
67. In the first instance concern has been raised by the Parish Council as to the precise
nature of the proposed use with some citing a belief that the building would be
occupied either as Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) or HMOs and as
such should be assessed against the requirements of policy 16 of the CDP.

Page 73

68. Policy 16 requires proposals for new PBSAs to demonstrate that there is a need for
additional student accommodation that the proposal would not result in a significant
negative impact on retail, employment leisure, tourism or housing use and that
consultation has been undertaken with the relevant education provider. However, it
has been confirmed by the applicant that the scheme would not be used as PBSA and
as such policy 16 is not considered relevant.
69. As was the case with the previous application relating to 4 1 No. bed apartments and
8 No. 2 bedroom apartments the applicant has sought to clarify the position and has
confirmed that the units would be offered as C3 dwelling houses and not either wholly
as Student Accommodation or as HMOs. As such the development should be
considered on the basis that the proposed units fall within Use Class C3 as defined by
the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987. In the event that planning
permission was granted and the development completed, any future material change
of use from C3 to either a PBSA or HMO would itself require planning permission, and
as such is subject to separate planning control. Therefore, the inclusion of any
planning condition in this instance to restrict C4 use would be unnecessary and as
such would fail to meet the tests for imposition.
70. Therefore, policy 6 of the CDP is relevant which supports the development of sites
that are not allocated in the plan or a Neighbourhood Plan and located within a built up
area, provided it accords with all relevant development plan policies and the following
criteria;
a) is compatible with, and is not prejudicial to, any existing, allocated or permitted
use of adjacent land;
b) does not contribute to coalescence with neighbouring settlements, would not
result in ribbon development, or inappropriate backland development;
c) does not result in the loss of open land that has recreational, ecological or
heritage value, or contributes to the character of the locality which cannot be
adequately mitigated or compensated for;
d) is appropriate in terms of scale, design, layout, and location to the character,
function, form and setting of, the settlement;
e) will not be prejudicial to highway safety or have a severe residual cumulative
impact on network capacity;
f) has good access by sustainable modes of transport to relevant services and
facilities and reflects the size of the settlement and the level of service
provision within that settlement;
g) does not result in the loss of a settlement's or neighbourhood’s valued
facilities or services unless it has been demonstrated that they are no longer
viable;
h) minimises vulnerability and provides resilience to impacts arising from climate
change, including but not limited to, flooding;
i) where relevant, makes as much use as possible of previously developed
(brownfield) land;
j) where appropriate, it reflects priorities for urban regeneration.
71. In addition, policy 19 of the CDP is also relevant and states that on all new housing
development the Council will seek to secure an appropriate mix of dwelling types and
sizes, taking into account of existing imbalances in the housing stock, site
characteristics, viability, economic and market considerations and the opportunity to
facilitate self-build or custom build schemes.
72. Assessment of the development against criteria a) to j) of policy 6 is considered
elsewhere within this report along with other material considerations, whilst
assessment against criteria f), g) and i) are discussed in more detail below.
Page 74

73. The site is centrally located, and its redevelopment would relate well to the existing
form of the settlement in this locale. As such, the principle of development is deemed
acceptable subject to consideration of the detailed criteria in policy 6. The site is
situated towards the centre of Durham City and as such is well served by shops,
services, education and employment opportunities and also benefits from good public
transport link to the local bus and rail network and links to the wider national rail
network via Durham Train Station. The site is considered a wholly sustainable location
in this regard and one which is capable of sustaining new residential development of
the modest scale proposed. The development therefore displays a broad level of
accordance with the aims of criteria f) of policy 6 of the CDP.
74. With regards to criteria g) it is noted that the site was previously used as a private car
park in association with an office use at William Robson House which itself now
benefits from planning permission for redevelopment to residential accommodation
through a mix of permitted development rights and full planning permission.
Consequently, the car park is understood to be vacant and this has resulted in some
degree of antisocial misuse, culminating in the applicant fencing the site to restrict
unauthorised use/occupation. In this respect the redevelopment of the site would not
result in the loss of any valued asset or service and reintroduce a positive use to a
building which is currently vacant. In this regard the proposal is considered to accord
with the aims of criteria g) of policy 6 of the CDP.
75. More generally the NPPF seeks to boost significantly the supply of housing (para 59),
as well as using land that is physically well related to existing settlements (para 84).
Part 11 (Making effective use of land) seeks to promote an effective use of land in
meeting the need for homes and strives to make as much use as possible of
previously developed land. Paragraph 118 expects planning decisions to give
substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for
homes (part c) and promote and support the development of under-utilised land and
buildings, especially if this would help to meet identified needs for housing (part d).
76. In this regard the site is previously developed and displays accordance with criteria i)
of policy 6 of the CDP which requires development to make as much use as possible
of previously developed (brownfield) land and in relation to policy 19 of the CDP meets
the aim of providing a mix of housing types as both apartments and townhouses are
included. The development also displays a broad level of accordance with the general
aim of the NPPF to boost housing supply and improve the variety of housing solutions
available although the weight to be afforded to this boost to supply is limited given the
Council can display in excess of 5 years housing land supply.
Impact upon Residential Amenity
77. Criteria a) of policy 6 of the CDP states that development will only be supported if it is
compatible with, and is not prejudicial to, any existing, allocated or permitted use of
adjacent land. In addition, policy 31 of the CDP is also relevant and states that
development will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that there will be no
unacceptable impact, either individually or cumulatively, on health, living or working
conditions or the natural environment and that can be integrated effectively with any
existing business and community facilities. This is considered to display a broad level
of accordance with the aims of the NPPF at paragraphs 127 and 180 which require
new development to function well and add to the quality of the overall area and
prevent both new and existing development from contributing to, or being put at
unacceptable risk from, unacceptable levels of pollution respectively.

Page 75

78. Whilst works to facilitate the conversion would require notable alteration to the current
structure it has been confirmed through detailed section plans and elevations that the
building would not significantly extend beyond the limits of the current structure. It is
noted that previous proposals for the redevelopment of the building which were
refused by planning committee due to concerns regarding the impact of the
development upon the residential amenity of residents of Blue Coat Court to the east
of the site. This proposal represents a significant reduction in the scale of those
previous proposals and no longer proposes a large featureless gable facing east to
Blue Coat Court. Upon receipt of the additional elevation and section detail which
sufficiently demonstrate this relationship, adjacent residents have withdrawn
objections to the proposal in this regard.
79. With regards to separation distances it is considered that the minimum requirements
stated in the Council’s Residential Design Supplementary Planning Document would
be achieved, and that residential amenity for future occupiers would be sufficient, with
both the 3 No. apartments and 4No. town houses providing sufficient internal space to
meet the requirements of the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS). Failure
to achieve those minimum space standards was a reason for refusal of the previous
application and a matter noted by the Planning Inspector in refusing that application
and compliance with those space standards in the current proposal has ensured that
sufficient internal amenity space would be provided in accordance with policy 29 of the
CDP.
80. The site is located to the rear of Claypath which hosts some of Durham’s night-time
economy which includes bars, restaurants and takeaways, and is also within close
proximity of purpose-built student accommodation at Student Castle. As the
development is noise sensitive the Council’s Environmental Health Officer has been
consulted and notes that it is expected that there would be a certain level of tolerance
for noise arising from the night time economy given the position of the site within this
city centre location, and that occupiers would be able to close windows to ensure a
reasonable degree of acoustic protection is afforded. Nevertheless, the inclusion of a
planning condition is advised which requires the submission and agreement of a
scheme for noise mitigation within the build that achieves a noise level of NR20 or less
within habitable rooms or the worst affected sensitive receptor with closed windows
should be included.
81. In addition, and in order to limit the potential for disturbance from the construction
phase of development the submission, agreement and implementation of a
construction management plan is advised and is also noted as a requirement by the
Parish Council should planning permission be granted. In addition, a condition which
restricts the hours of working during the construction phase should also be included.
82. Therefore, subject to the inclusion of planning conditions stated above, the
development is considered to accord with the aims of policies 6, 29 and 31 of the CDP
and paragraph 180 of the NPPF in that it would not have any unacceptable impact on
the adjacent land uses or the amenity of residential occupiers.
Impact upon the Significance of Designated Heritage Assets including the UNESCO World
Heritage Site (WHS)
83. The application site is located towards the commercial centre of Durham City, within
Durham City Conservation Area and to the north east of Durham Castle and Cathedral
UNESCO WHS. In addition, several listed buildings are also located within close
proximity of the site to the north at Claypath and the adjacent building at William
Robson House although not listed, is considered to be a non-designated heritage
asset.
Page 76

84. When considering applications for planning permission which affects a Conservation
Area or Listed Building, Sections 66 & 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is relevant and requires a local planning authority to
have special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character/appearance of the Conservation Area and of preserving the building or its
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.
85. In terms of local plan policy, policy 6 d) requires new development to be appropriate in
terms of scale, design, layout and location to the character, function and form and
setting of, the settlement. Policy 44 of the CDP is also relevant which states that new
development should contribute positively to the built and historic environment and
seek opportunities to enhance and, where appropriate, better reveal the significance
and understanding of heritage asset and policy 45 seeks to ensure that developments
within the world heritage site sustain and enhance the significance of the designated
asset, are based on an understanding of, and will protect and enhance the
outstanding universal value of the site in terms in relation to the immediate and wider
setting and important view into, and out of the site. Collectively this approach displays
a broad level of accordance with the aims of paragraph 193 of the NPPF which states
that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be - irrespective of
whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than
substantial harm to its significance.
86. The draft City of Durham Parish Neighbourhood Plan is also relevant and nearing
adoption with referendum due shortly. Consequently, significant weight can be
afforded to relevant policies of the plan in determination of this application. Policies
H1, H2 and H4 are relevant in this regard and seek to ensure that proposals within the
Durham Cathedral and Castle World Heritage Site, Durham City Conservation area,
and affecting heritage assets should sustain, conserve and enhance its Outstanding
Universal Value [WHS], the significance of the Conservation Area, and not have
detrimental impact on the heritage assets and their setting.
87. The Council’s Design and Conservation Section has commented on the application
and notes that the series of yards and vennels within Claypath are important historic
spaces, and that the application site is one of the most significant examples of these.
The spaces are part of the historic plan form of Claypath, being important components
of the physical layout of this part of the city testifying to its industrial past. William
Robson House sits immediately alongside the proposed development and is
distinctive. It is of interest as the only substantial historic industrial styled building
within Claypath and in this regard is considered a non-designated heritage asset
which contributes to Durham City Centre Conservation Area. Further significance is
also derived from the sites position within the inner urban circle of the WHS and within
the setting of listed buildings to the north.
88. With regards to the impact of the development upon significance of identified heritage
assets the Council’s Design and Conservation Section notes that the proposal has
been reduced in scale, massing and density from that previously proposed, and as
such fits more comfortably into the constrained yard space. As such it would continue
to appear subordinate to William Robson House and bring some enhancement
through the reintroduction of a positive use thereby securing its long-term future. In
terms of design the development proposes a simple plan form that includes pitched
roofs and ordered elevations with a balance and rhythm reflective of the adjacent NonDesignated Heritage Asset and as such is considered acceptable in this regard
subject to planning conditions to control external materials, window detail and
boundary treatment. Opportunities have been sought through amendment to previous
iterations of proposals to better reveal the significance of this part of the City Centre
Conservation Area and the removal of the existing security fencing would present
enhancement to Conservation Area in this regard.
Page 77

89. In terms of wider views of the development these would be limited, and only partially
glimpsed in the wider context from the back of Claypath and in views from Leazes
Bowl, New and Old Elvet Bridge, the riverside area and from the entrance point into
the Market Place. Noting the reduced scale and mass of the development and that the
proposal would not increase the scale of the existing building excessively, the special
character and appearance of the surrounding conservation area would be enhanced.
90. In terms of the WHS whilst the development would represent a changing built
component within its setting, it would not compete for attention, be visually intrusive or
harmful in any key public or iconic views towards the Castle or Cathedral. It would not
harm outstanding universal values of the WHS or the visual drama and appeal of the
WHS on the peninsula with the skyline would remain visually uncontested. In addition,
the reintroduction of a positive use to the building would secure its long-term future.
The development is therefore considered to both sustain and enhance the setting,
visual experience and outstanding universal value of the WHS.
91. The proposed development would enhance the special character and appearance of
Durham City Conservation Area, the setting of adjacent listed buildings and that of the
non-designated heritage asset at William Robson House, positively contributing to its
significance in accordance with the aims of policy 44 of the CDP, paragraphs 184,
185, 191, 193 and 200 of the NPPF and Sections 66 & 72 of the Planning (Listed
Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. In addition, the development also displays
a broad level of accordance with the aims of policies H2 and H4 of the draft City of
Durham Parish Neighbourhood Plan in this regard.
92. In addition, the development would sustain and enhance the outstanding universal
values of the WHS in accordance with the aims of policy 45 of the CDP, paragraph
184 and 193 of the NPPF and policy H1 of the City of Durham Parish Neighbourhood
Plan.
93. Notwithstanding the above it is noted that a number of mature trees are located
immediately to the south of the site which are not within the application site itself and
are under the ownership of the County Council. These make a considerable positive
contribution to Durham City Centre Conservation Area and are subject to protection
through their position within the conservation are itself. At present their crown spread
comes into direct conflict with the existing building.
94. Policy 40 of the CDP is relevant and states that proposals for new development will be
expected to retain existing trees where they can make a positive contribution to the
locality or to the development, maintain adequate stand-off distances between them
and new land-uses, including root protection areas where necessary, to avoid future
conflicts, and integrate them fully into the design having regard to their future
management requirements and growth potential.
95. The application is supported by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) which
confirms that the proposed works to extend and convert the existing building could be
achieved with minor works to these specimens to remove existing conflict with the
building and the specimens could be retained post construction subject to appropriate
protection. which would be retained post development subject to appropriate means of
protection. Concerns that the trees would restrict light into the single aspect habitable
was a concern and reason for refusal of a previous planning application for the
conversion of the building to 1 bed apartments. However, this application proposes
townhouses across this part of the site which incorporate a utility room with window to
the southern elevation, and a first-floor bedroom with dual aspect to dual pitched twin
ridged roof arrangement. Therefore, whilst the trees remain in close proximity to the
building the design is such that they would not unduly restrict light to habitable rooms
and as such are unlikely to come under undue pressure to be removed by future
residents. There is requirement for use of obscure glazing in the utility room window
and this could be secured through appropriate planning condition.
Page 78

96. The Council’s Arborist and Landscape Section therefore raise no objection to the
application subject to the inclusion of a planning condition which requires the
development be carried out in accordance with the submitted Tree Protection Plan
and that the stated protection measures be installed prior to the commencement of
development and retained for the duration of the construction period. Subject to the
inclusion of a planning condition in this regard the development is considered to
accord with the aims of policy 40 of the CDP.
Parking, Access and Highway Safety and impact on PROW
97. At present the site benefits from an existing vehicular and pedestrian access directly
from Claypath via a narrow vennel approximately 2.6 metres wide which served
William Robson House was last in use and it is proposed to retain this arrangement in
order to serve the development.
98. Policy 6 e) of the CDP states that development on unallocated sites will only be
supported where they will not be prejudicial to highway safety or have a severe
residual cumulative impact on network capacity. In addition, policy 21 of the CDP
states that all development shall deliver sustainable transport by (in part) ensuring that
any vehicular traffic generated by new development, following the implementation of
sustainable transport measures, can be safely accommodated on the local and
strategic highway network and does not cause an unacceptable increase in
congestions or air pollution and that severe congestion can be overcome by
appropriate transport improvements. Both approaches display broad accordance with
the aims of paragraph 108 of the NPPF which requires planning decisions to take
account of whether safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all.
99. The City of Durham Parish Council consider that the development would have a
detrimental impact upon highway safety, particularly for pedestrians using Claypath
given the narrowness of the vennel and restricted visibility. They also query the fallback position of the previous use.
100. The Highway Authority has been consulted and whilst concern is held regarding the
narrowness of the vennel no objection is raised in relation to highway safety. In doing
so the Highway Authority noted the fall-back position with regard to the previous office
of William Robson House use which could see an unrestricted intensification of the
building and car park over and above that resulting from the proposed residential use.
In this instance the Authority notes that should this fall-back position be reached, the
access may become less safe than that proposed through the change of use. The
development therefore presents benefits in terms of sterilising that fall-back position.
William Robson House has well established previous use as office accommodation
and the car park to which this application relates was occupied directly in association
with that use. Although currently vacant the building could be reoccupied for this use
without planning control and without restriction on the number and frequency of
vehicle movements. It is considered that this is a realistic fallback position which must
be afforded weight in the assessment of highways impacts of the proposal. The
inclusion of a planning condition requiring the submission and agreement of a
Construction Management Plan to be approved by the LPA prior to the
commencement of development has already ready been noted and would protect
highway safety during the construction phase.
101. Therefore, subject to the inclusion of a planning condition in this regard the
development is considered to accord with the aims of policies 6 and 31 of the CDP
and paragraph 108 of the NPPF.
Page 79

Ecology
102. The application is supported by an Ecological Walkover of the site completed on
16/01/2020 which updated a Preliminary Ecology Appraisal/Bat Risk Assessment
originally undertaken in 2017.
103. Part 15 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that developments protect and mitigate harm to
biodiversity interests, and where possible, improve them. In particular paragraph 175
requires the planning system to achieve measurable net gains for biodiversity. Policy
41 displays a broad level of accordance with approach stating that new development
will be expected to minimise impacts on biodiversity by retaining and enhancing
existing biodiversity assets and features and providing net gains for biodiversity
including by establishing coherent ecological networks.
104. The supporting information concluded that there were no Durham BAP habitats on site
or in the immediate vicinity and that habitats within the survey area were of limited
value. Similarly, it concluded that the building was not used by void roosting bat
species and that the risk of the building being used a hibernaculum was negligible and
that the survey has not highlighted the presence, or likely presence, of any other
protected species within the survey area. Consequently, the Council’s Ecologist raises
no objection to the application subject to the inclusion of a planning condition which
requires implementation of the mitigation described in Section 8.2 of the Preliminary
Ecology Appraisal/Bat Risk Assessment to mitigate any potential impacts from the
development in accordance with Policy 41 of the CDP and paragraph 175 of the
NPPF.
105. Subject to the inclusion of a planning condition in this regard the development is
considered to accord with the aims of policy 41 of the CDP and paragraph 175 of the
NPPF.
Contaminated Land
106. The application proposes a change of use to a more sensitive receptor and as such
policy 32 of the CDP is relevant which relates to despoiled, degraded, derelict,
contaminated and unstable land which states that development will not be permitted
unless the developer can demonstrate that the site is suitable for the proposed use,
and does not result in unacceptable risks which would adversely impact on the
environment, human health and the amenity of local communities and all
investigations and risk assessments have been undertaken by an appropriately
qualified person.
107. This displays a broad level of accordance with paragraph 178 of the NPPF which
requires that planning decisions should ensure that the site is suitable for its new use
taking account of ground conditions and land instability, including from natural hazards
or former activities such as mining, pollution arising from previous uses and any
proposal for mitigation including land remediation or impacts on the natural
environment arising from that remediation.
108. The Council’s Contaminated Land Section has been consulted and offers no objection
to the application subject to the inclusion of a planning condition which requires the
submission, agreement and implementation of a phase 2 intrusive site investigation
report prior to the commencement of development and the implementation of
remediation and verification reports where need is identified.

Page 80

Other Matters
109. The City of Durham Parish Council has raised concerns that the development would
not meet accessibility requirements. Policy 15 of the CDP requires new development
of 5 dwellings or more to ensure that 66% of all units are built to Building Regulations
M4(2) (accessible and adaptable dwelling) standard. In this case that would translate
to 5 of the 7 dwellings proposed. It is considered that based on the information
provided in support of the application the required standard could be achieved.
However, it is considered appropriate to include a planning condition which requires
the submission and agreement of precise detail to demonstrate that the 5 of the
dwellings would achieve this standard prior to the commencement of development. In
light of the above it is considered that the development would accord with the policy
15 of the CDP.
110. In addition, the Parish Council also raise concerns regarding arrangements for the
storage and removal of refuse from the site noting that William Robson House benefits
from permission for conversion to residential accommodation through a mix of
permitted development rights and planning permission. In response the applicant has
advised that the refuse at William Robson House is collected by a private contractor
and that in relation to this application the proposal incorporates a communal bin store
for the apartments and individual bin storage for the dwellings with their own private
curtilage. These bins along with the refuse from William Robson House will be
collected by private contractor who accesses the site and removes and returns the
bins for the storage areas. Precise detail in this regard would be secured through a
waste management plan for the site secured through planning condition.

CONCLUSION
111. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out that
planning applications be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.
112. The County Durham Plan was adopted in October 2020 and as such forms part of a
relevant and up to date development plan. Policy 6 of the Plan is relevant and
provides in principle support for the development of sites which are no allocated in the
Plan or in a Neighbourhood Plan and which are within the built-up area where specific
criteria are met. The proposed development has been considered against this context
and assessment of the relevant criteria listed in policy 6 undertaken which has
identified that the development would accord with the requirements of those criteria as
set out in this report.
113. In this regard it is considered that the development, by reason of its size, scale mass,
layout, design and materials, could be satisfactorily accommodated without
unacceptable adverse impact upon residential amenity, highway safety, ecology and
land contamination in accordance with the aims of policies 6, 15, 21, 29, 31, 32, 39, 40
and 41 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 5, 6, 8, 9, 11, 12, and 15 of the NPPF.
114. In addition, the development is considered to meet the requirements of policy 44 of the
CDP, paragraphs 184, 185, 191, 193 and 200 of the NPPF and Sections 66 & 72 of
the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in that it would
enhance Durham City Centre Conservation Area and the setting of nearby listed
buildings and non-designated heritage asset at William Robson House. In addition, the
development also displays a broad level of accordance with the aims of policies H1,
H2 and H4 of the draft City of Durham Parish Neighbourhood Plan in this regard.
Page 81

115. In addition, the development would protect, conserve and enhance the outstanding
universal value of the WHS in accordance with the aims of policy 45 of the CDP,
paragraph 184 and 193 of the NPPF and policy H1 of the City of Durham Parish
Neighbourhood Plan.
116. Whilst it is noted that objection was initially received from adjacent resident’s
additional information has been submitted to address these and those objections
withdrawn. Notwithstanding this, concerns raised by the Parish Council remain and
have been considered in determination of this application as detailed elsewhere in this
report. However, on balance, these were not considered to be of sufficient weight to
justify refusal of the application and where appropriate could be satisfactorily mitigated
through the imposition of planning conditions.

RECOMMENDATION
That the application be APPROVED, subject to the conditions detailed below:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
approved plans listed in Part 3 - Approved Plans.
Reason: To define the consent and ensure that a satisfactory form of development is
obtained in accordance with Policy 29 of the County Durham Local Plan.
3. No development shall take place until a detailed acoustic report assessing the
existing noise climate at the development site, particularly with regard to noise from
the adjacent commercial uses, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. In the event that the acoustic report finds that the following
noise levels would be exceeded, a noise insulation scheme shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
55dB LAeq 16hr in outdoor living areas
40dB LAeq 16hr in all rooms during the day-time (0700 - 2300)
30 dB LAeq 8hr in all bedrooms during the night time (2300 - 0700).
and 45 dB LAmax in bedrooms during the night-time
The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of the
development and shall be permanently retained thereafter.
Reason: To protect the amenity of future occupiers in accordance with the requirements of
policies 6 and 31 of the County Durham Plan and paragraph 180 of the NPPF. This is
required as a pre commencement condition in order to mitigate potential impact on
residential amenity which needs to be considered before site works commence.
4. No development shall commence until full details of a scheme of works to ensure
that 5 of the dwellings hereby approved comply with Building Regulations
Requirement M4(2) (accessible and adaptable dwellings) standards has been
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the
development shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed detail.
Page 82

Reason: To meet the housing needs of older people and people with disabilities in
accordance with policy 15 of the County Durham Plan and Part 5 of the NPPF.
5. No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
Construction Management Plan shall include as a minimum but not necessarily be
restricted to the following:
-

A Dust Action Plan including measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during
construction.

-

Details of methods and means of noise reduction/suppression.

-

Where construction involves penetrative piling, details of methods for piling of
foundations including measures to suppress any associated noise and vibration.

-

Details of measures to prevent mud and other such material migrating onto the
highway from all vehicles entering and leaving the site.

-

Designation, layout and design of construction access and egress points.

-

Details for the provision of directional signage (on and off site).

-

Details of contractors' compounds, materials storage and other storage
arrangements, including cranes and plant, equipment and related temporary
infrastructure.

-

Details of provision for all site operatives for the loading and unloading of plant,
machinery and materials.

-

Details of provision for all site operatives, including visitors and construction vehicles
for parking and turning within the site during the construction period.

-

Routing agreements for construction traffic.

-

Details of the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate.

-

Waste audit and scheme for waste minimisation and recycling/disposing of waste
resulting from demolition and construction works.

-

Management measures for the control of pest species as a result of demolition
and/or construction works.

-

Detail of measures for liaison with the local community and procedures to deal with
any complaints received.

The management strategy shall have regard to BS 5228 "Noise and Vibration Control on
Construction and Open Sites" during the planning and implementation of site activities and
operations.
The approved Construction Management Plan shall also be adhered to throughout the
construction period and the approved measures shall be retained for the duration of the
construction works.
Page 83

Reason: To protect the residential amenity of existing and future residents from the
development in accordance with Policy 31 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the
National Planning Policy Framework. Required to be pre commencement to ensure that the
whole construction phase is undertaken in an acceptable way. This is required as a pre
commencement condition in order to mitigate potential impact on residential amenity which
needs to be considered before site works commence.
6. Notwithstanding any details of materials submitted with the application no
development shall commence until precise details of the make, colour and texture of
all walling and roofing materials have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be constructed in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the area and to comply with Policy 29 of the
County Durham Plan, Policy H2 of the NCDP and Part 12 of the National Planning Policy
Framework. This is required as a pre commencement condition in order to mitigate potential
impact on visual amenity and the character of designated and non-designated heritage
assets which needs to be considered before site works commence.
7. No external windows and doors shall be installed unless full details including plans at
a scale of 1:20, including cross sections and details of colour finish, of the proposed
windows and doors have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The windows and doors shall thereafter be installed in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the surrounding areas in accordance with
Policies 29 and 44 of the County Durham Plan, Policy H2 of the DCNP and Parts 12 and 16
of the National Planning Policy Framework. This is required as a pre commencement
condition in order to mitigate potential impact on visual amenity and the character of
designated and non-designated heritage assets which needs to be considered before site
works commence.
8. All roof lights shall be of conservation style and no development shall commence
until full details of all roof lights have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in
accordance with the agreed detail.
Reason: To protect the special historic and architectural character of the Grade II Listed
Building in accordance with the aims of policy 44 of the County Durham Plan, Policy H2 of
the DCNP and Part 16 the NPPF. This is required as a pre commencement condition in
order to mitigate potential impact on visual amenity and the character of designated and
non-designated heritage assets which needs to be considered before site works
commence.
9. No rainwater goods shall be installed unless details of materials, hoppers and
junctions, and existing sections to be retained, have first been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the surrounding areas in accordance with
Policies 29 and 44 of the County Durham Plan, Policy H2 of the DCNP and Parts 12 and 16
of the National Planning Policy Framework. This is required as a pre commencement
condition in order to mitigate potential impact on visual amenity and the character of
designated and non-designated heritage assets which needs to be considered before site
works commence.
Page 84

10. No construction work shall take place, nor any site cabins, materials or machinery be
brought on site until all trees and hedges, indicated on the approved tree protection
plan as to be retained, are protected by the erection of fencing, placed as indicated
on the plan and comprising a vertical and horizontal framework of scaffolding, well
braced to resist impacts, and supporting temporary welded mesh fencing panels or
similar approved in accordance with BS.5837:2010.
No operations whatsoever, no alterations of ground levels, and no storage of any
materials are to take place inside the fences, and no work is to be done such as to
affect any tree.
No removal of limbs of trees or other tree work shall be carried out.
No underground services trenches or service runs shall be laid out in root protection
areas, as defined on the Tree Constraints Plan.
Reason: To protect existing trees and preserve the historic character of Durham City Centre
Conservation Area and the visual amenity of the locale in accordance with the aims of
policy 44 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the NPPF. This is required as a pre
commencement condition in order to mitigate potential impact on visual amenity and the
character of designated and non-designated heritage assets which needs to be considered
before site works commence.
11. No development shall commence until a land contamination scheme has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted
scheme shall be compliant with the YALPAG guidance and include a Phase 1
preliminary risk assessment (desk top study).
If the phase 1 assessment identifies that further investigation is required a Phase 2
site investigation shall be carried out, which shall include a sampling and analysis
plan. If the Phase 2 identifies any unacceptable risks, a Phase 3 remediation
strategy shall be produced and where necessary include gas protection measures
and method of verification.
Reason: To ensure that the presence of contamination is identified, risk assessed and
proposed remediation works are agreed in order to ensure the site suitable for use, in
accordance with Policy 32 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the National Planning
Policy Framework. Required to be pre-commencement to ensure that the development can
be carried out safely. This is required as a pre commencement condition in order to mitigate
potential impact from land contamination which needs to be considered before site works
commence.
12. Remediation works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation
strategy. The development shall not be brought into use until such time a Phase 4
Verification report related to that part of the development has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the remediation works are fully implemented as agreed and the site
is suitable for use, in accordance with Policy 32 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of
the National Planning Policy Framework.
13. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of all means
of enclosure of the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The enclosures shall be constructed in accordance with the
approved details thereafter.
Page 85

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and to comply with Policy 29 of
the County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
14. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, a scheme detailing
the provision for refuse management within the site shall be submitted to and agreed
by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted scheme shall include details of the
means of storage and removal of all domestic waste generated by the use hereby
approved and thereafter the development shall be carried out wholly in accordance
with the agreed details.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with policy 21 of the CDP and Part
9 of the NPPF.
15. No development shall take place unless in accordance with section 8
(Recommendations) of the Preliminary Ecological Assessment by Tina Wiffen dated
December 2017.
Reason: In the interests of preserving protected species in accordance with Part 15 of the
NPPF.
16. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and/or reenacting that Order) windows to the proposed the ground floor rear elevation of the 4
townhouses shall be obscured to level 3 or higher of the Pilkington scale of privacy
or equivalent and shall be maintained thereafter in perpetuity.
Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of neighbouring properties in accordance
of Policies 29 and 31 of the County Durham Plan and Part 12 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.
17. In undertaking the development that is hereby approved:
No external construction works, works of demolition, deliveries, external running of
plant and equipment shall take place other than between the hours of 0730 to 1800
on Monday to Friday and 0730 to 1400 on Saturday.
No internal works audible outside the site boundary shall take place on the site other
than between the hours of 0730 to 1800 on Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1700 on
Saturday.
No construction works or works of demolition whatsoever, including deliveries,
external running of plant and equipment, internal works whether audible or not
outside the site boundary, shall take place on Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays.
For the purposes of this condition, construction works are defined as: The carrying
out of any building, civil engineering or engineering construction work involving the
use of plant and machinery including hand tools.
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of existing and future residents from the
development in accordance with Policy 31 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 86

STATEMENT OF PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT
The Local Planning Authority in arriving at its decision to approve the application has,
without prejudice to a fair and objective assessment of the proposals, issues raised and
representations received, sought to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive
manner with the objective of delivering high quality sustainable development to improve the
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area in accordance with the NPPF.
(Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.)

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Submitted application form, plans, supporting documents and subsequent information
provided by the applicant
The National Planning Policy Framework (2018)
National Planning Practice Guidance Notes
County Durham Plan
Statutory, internal and public consultation responses

Page 87

Planning Services

his map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of Her majesty’s
Stationary Office © Crown copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and
may lead to prosecution or civil proceeding.
Durham County Council Licence No. 100022202 2005

Page 88

Extension and conversion of the multi-level decked car
park to form 3no. 2-bed apartments and 4no. 2-bed
townhouses (Resubmission). DM/20/01961/FPA

Date November 2020

Scale NTS

